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14 July 2016  

Micro Focus International plc 
Audited preliminary results for the full year ended 30 April 2016 

 
Micro Focus International plc ("the Company" or “the Group”, LSE: MCRO.L), the international software product group, announces 
audited preliminary results at the high end of management expectations for the year ended 30 April 2016, with reported operating 
profit doubling year-on-year and final dividend increasing by 50.7%. 

 
In September 2014 the Company announced the transformational $2.5bn acquisition of The Attachmate Group, Inc. (“TAG”) which 
was subsequently completed on 20 November 2014. Trading results of TAG are included for the year ended 30 April 2016 and from 
the date of acquisition in the figures for the year to 30 April 2015. 

 
Key highlights  

 
 Reported operating profit doubles on reported revenues up 49.2%.  

 

 Revenue, Underlying Adjusted EBITDA** and basic EPS*** at the top end of management expectations, driven by: 
o Strong performance by the SUSE Product Portfolio where revenues grew by 18.2% on a pro-forma* CCY basis, offset 

by anticipated reductions in the Micro Focus Product Portfolio. 
o Integration benefits resulting in a $75.8m decrease in Adjusted Operating Costs** on a pro-forma CCY basis. 

  

 On a CCY basis: 
o Total revenues of $1,245.0m (2015: CCY $804.0m), an increase of 54.9%. 
o Adjusted EBITDA** of $546.8m (2015: CCY $344.0m), an increase of 59.0%. 
o Underlying Adjusted EBITDA increased by 59.1% to $532.5m (2015: CCY $334.7m), at a margin of 42.8%. 

 

 On a pro-forma CCY basis to provide a better comparison of underlying performance: 
o Total revenues of $1,245.0m (2015: pro-forma CCY $1,270.7m), a reduction of 2.0%. 
o Adjusted EBITDA of $546.8m (2015: pro-forma CCY $499.3m), an increase of 9.5%. 
o Underlying Adjusted EBITDA of $532.5m (2015: pro-forma CCY $486.8m), an increase of 9.4%. 

 

 Growth in Adjusted diluted earnings per share of 13.3% to 146.70 cents (2015: 129.43 cents)*** 
 

 Acquisition of Serena Software Inc. (“Serena”) announced on 22 March 2016 for $540.0m on a cash and debt free basis, together 
with a share placing of 10.9m shares at a price of 1,455 pence raising £158.2m ($225.7m) gross and £156.1m ($222.7m) net.  
Completion of the Serena acquisition took place after the year end on 2 May 2016.  

 

 Strong cash generation in the period: 
o Cash generated from operations was $455.7m (2015: $288.7m) representing 87.8% (2015: 110.6%) of Adjusted 

EBITDA less exceptional costs with second half cash generated from operations of $293.7m, 113.4% of Adjusted 
EBITDA less exceptional costs. 
 

o Free cash flow**** of $238.1m (2015: $173.7m).  
 

o Net debt at 30 April 2016 reduced to $1,078.0m (30 April 2015: $1,403.5m) benefiting from the net proceeds of $222.7m 
from the share placing announced on 22 March 2016. The Serena acquisition completed on 2 May 2016 with resulting 
increase in pro-forma net debt to $1,625.0m. 

 
o Net debt to pro-forma Facility EBITDA** for the year to 30 April 2016 is a multiple of 1.90 times, increasing to 2.51 times 

on a pro-forma basis including the acquisition of Serena Software Inc.; target remains 2.5 times. 
 

 Proposed final dividend increased by 50.7% to 49.74 cents per share (2015: 33.00 cents per share) resulting in full year dividend 
of 66.68 cents per share (2015: 48.40 cents per share). 

 
Statutory results 

 
 Operating profit of $294.9m (2015: $147.2m)  

 Profit before tax of $195.4m (2015: $91.4m)  

 Basic earnings per share of 74.50 cents (2015: 58.54 cents) an increase of 27.3%***  
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The table below shows the reported results for the Group at actual exchange rates with CCY FY15 comparatives except where stated 
otherwise: 

 

 
Results at a glance FY16 

 
FY15 

 

Change 

Revenue    
Total Revenue    
Constant Currency $1,245.0m $804.0m +54.9% 

- Licence $304.8m $251.5m +21.2% 
- Maintenance $644.5m $425.5m +51.5% 
- Subscription $248.9m $94.9m +162.3% 
- Consultancy $46.8m $32.1m +45.8% 
    
Reported $1,245.0m $834.5m +49.2% 

    

NON GAAP MEASURES    

Adjusted EBITDA**    
              Constant Currency $546.8m $344.0m +59.0% 
              Reported $546.8m $357.6m +52.9% 
    
Underlying Adjusted EBITDA**    
              Constant Currency $532.5m $334.7m +59.1% 
              Reported $532.5m $348.3m +52.9% 
    

STATUTORY MEASURES    

Pre-tax profit    
              Constant Currency $195.4m $81.3m +140.3% 
              Reported $195.4m $91.4m +113.8% 
    

Earnings per share ***    
              Basic 74.50c 58.54c +27.3% 
              Diluted 71.61c 56.71c +26.3% 
    
              Adjusted 152.63c 133.58c +14.3% 
              Adjusted Diluted 146.70c 129.43c +13.3% 
    
Dividend per share 66.68c 48.40c +37.8% 
    
Net debt $1,078.0m $1,403.5m -23.2% 

 
*   Due to the significant size of the TAG acquisition the directors believe that the full year results are better understood by comparing the results in the period 

with the pro-forma CCY results of the combination of TAG and Base Micro Focus in the comparable period. In arriving at pro-forma CCY results for year 
ended 30 April 2015 the directors have combined the unaudited internal management information for TAG for the period from 1 May 2014 to 20 November 
2014 with the audited Group results for the year ended 30 April 2015 converted at the same exchange rates as experienced in the current period.  

 
** In assessing the performance of the business, the directors use non GAAP measures “Adjusted Operating Profit”, “Adjusted Operating Costs” and “Adjusted 

earnings per share”, being the relevant statutory measures, prior to exceptional items, amortization of purchased intangibles and share based compensation. 
“Adjusted EBITDA” is the Adjusted Operating Profit prior to depreciation and amortization of purchased software.  Underlying Adjusted EBITDA removes the 
impact of net capitalization/amortization of development costs and foreign currency gains and losses from Adjusted EBITDA whilst Facility EBITDA is Adjusted 
EBITDA before amortization and impairment of capitalized development costs. A reconciliation of these profit measures is given in note 8. 

 
***  Earnings per share are detailed in note 11. 

 

**** Free cash flow is cash generated from operations less net interest payments and loan costs, tax, intangible assets and purchase of property, plant and 
equipment. 
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Kevin Loosemore, Executive Chairman of Micro Focus, commented:  

 
“The board is delighted with the progress that has been made with the integration of the TAG business, the acquisition of Serena and 
the opportunities being presented as the infrastructure software market continues to mature. Our staff continue to work diligently to  
realize the value opportunities from this consolidating market space. 

 
We look forward to the coming year with optimism and excitement about the opportunities to come. We remain absolutely focused on 
growing shareholder returns which we see as the true measure of growth. In that context we are delighted to have announced a return 
to a policy of twice covered dividend.”  
 

 
 
 

Enquiries: 
Micro Focus Tel: +44 (0) 1635 32646 

Kevin Loosemore, Executive Chairman  

Mike Phillips, Chief Financial Officer  

Tim Brill, IR Director  

Powerscourt Tel: +44 (0) 20 7250 1446 

Peter Ogden  

Sophie Moate  

 
 

About Micro Focus 

Micro Focus (LSE: MCRO.L) is a global enterprise software Company supporting the technology needs and challenges of the Global 
2000. Our solutions help organizations leverage existing IT investments, enterprise applications and emerging technologies to address 
complex, rapidly evolving business requirements while protecting corporate information at all times. Our Product Portfolios are Micro 
Focus and SUSE.  Within Micro Focus our solution portfolios are COBOL Development and Mainframe Solutions, Host Connectivity, 
Identity and Access Security, IT Development and Operations Management Tools, and Collaboration and Networking.  For more 
information, visit: www.microfocus.com. SUSE, a pioneer in Open Source software, provides reliable, interoperable Linux, cloud 
infrastructure and storage solutions that give enterprises greater control and flexibility.  For more information, visit: www.suse.com. 

 
Forward-looking statements 

Certain statements in this audited preliminary results statement are forward-looking. Although the Group believes that the expectations 
reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, it can give no assurance that these expectations will prove to be correct. 
Because these statements involve risks and uncertainties, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by these 
forward-looking statements. The Group undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise. 

 

http://www.microfocus.com/
https://www.suse.com/


 

4 

 

Executive Chairman’s Statement 
 

2016 was the first full year of operations for the new organization formed following the acquisition of TAG. This created a Global 
Infrastructure Software business with revenues of c$1.25bn and EBITDA of c$530m which has since traded in line with our expectations 
of revenue and ahead of expectations for EBITDA. This was achieved during a year of significant change as we began implementation 
of the outputs from our integration review. In addition, we announced the acquisition of Serena on 22 March 2016 which was 
subsequently completed on 2 May 2016. Serena was acquired for an enterprise value of $540m having delivered $162.3m of revenue 
and $80.9m of Underlying Adjusted EBITDA in the year ended 31 January 2016. 
 
It is increasingly clear that there are significant segments of the infrastructure software market that have matured. The likely response 
to this is consolidation. To be successful in this stage of a market both operational effectiveness and scale are critical. We believe that 
Micro Focus is now well positioned to lead in this space. 
 
Like the TAG acquisition, the acquisition of Serena has clear business logic to extend Micro Focus market presence in mature 
infrastructure software segments; to increase the operational efficiency of the combined Group; to deliver effective product management 
and improve sales productivity. It is 100% consistent with the Company’s strategy which, as you will see in our Annual Report and 
Accounts, has not had any significant changes from the plan laid out four and a half years ago. Micro Focus sets out to deliver consistent 
long-term shareholder returns of between 15% and 20% per annum. The board is confident that medium-term low single digit revenue 
growth, industry leading margins and strong cash conversion will ensure that Micro Focus can deliver on that strategy. These returns 
can be further enhanced by the appropriate deployment of capital in value enhancing acquisitions. 
 
The Company has a business strategy, a financial strategy, an operating plan and an incentive strategy that all support our objective 
to achieve 15% to 20% compound annual return for shareholders. Since IPO in 2005 until 30 April 2016 the annual compound 
shareholder return over 11 years has been 26.4%. Adjusted diluted earnings per share have grown from 14.23 cents in 2006 to 146.70 
cents in 2016 and dividends per share have grown from 6 cents to 66.68 cents with respective compound annual growth rates of 26.3% 
and 27.2% respectively. 
 
When we announced the acquisition of TAG on 15 September 2014 we set out a four phase plan for the combination of the businesses 
whilst continuing to deliver sustainable shareholder returns. 

 

Financial 
Year 

FY2015 FY2016 FY2017 FY2018 

Phase Assessment Integration Stabilization Growth 

Actions  Deliver plans for 
FY15 

 Detailed review of 
combined        
businesses 

 Invigorate Product 
Management 

 Standardize systems 

 Rationalize Properties 

 Rationalize Legal entities 

 New Go to Market (“GTM”) 
model 

 Maintain/improve cash 
conversion 

 Rationalize underperforming 
elements  

 New market initiatives 

 Stabilize top line 

 Improve GTM 
productivity 

 Growth from new 
areas 

 Improved profitability 
 Standardize systems 
 Rationalize Legal 

entities 

 Top line growth 

 Standardize 
systems 

 Rationalize Legal 
entities 

 
The only changes to this plan are that our detailed review concluded that the integration of systems supporting the new business will 
extend throughout the four year period and the rationalization of legal entities will extend through FY17 and beyond.  
 
The acquisition of Serena does not change this plan but may slightly delay the return to revenue growth as we consolidate the Serena 
products. As with prior transactions we expect Serena’s revenue trend to continue its historic decline until significant change has been 
implemented. This further integration will be included in the remaining two stages of the plan that will consolidate and strengthen the 
combined business, with the goal of delivering modest revenue growth in the medium-term. We are building a strong platform and with 
the addition of Serena we have annual pro-forma cash generated from operations in the year ended 30 April 2016 of approximately 
$524m per annum and free cash flows of approximately $274m, from which we can achieve significant returns of value to our 
shareholders and/or further highly accretive acquisitions. 

 
Our performance in the year 

Following our integration review in 2015 we decided that the Group should operate two product portfolios, Micro Focus and SUSE and 
have reported the business this way since 1 May 2015. In December 2015 we announced that effective 1 February 2016 Stephen 
Murdoch would become Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Micro Focus portfolio and Nils Brauckmann CEO of the SUSE portfolio.  
Stephen and Nils discuss the operating performance of their respective portfolios in their CEO reports. 
 
Micro Focus Group delivered revenues and Underlying Adjusted EBITDA of $1,245.0m and $532.5m respectively which is at the top 
end of the guidance given at the beginning of the year.  Our net debt at 30 April 2016 was $1,078.0m and once we had completed the 
acquisition of Serena this had increased to $1,625.0m on a pro-forma basis.   
 
We would like to thank our employees for their continued dedication, commitment and hard work in delivering the full year results.   
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For the year ended 30 April 2016 bonuses were paid to executive management and non-commissionable staff in Micro Focus in line 
with the improvement in Underlying Adjusted EBITDA of the Group on a constant currency (“CCY”) basis excluding the impact of in 
year acquisitions. Staff bonuses were paid at 100% of their on target amount reflecting a 10.0% increase in Underlying Adjusted EBITDA 
of Micro Focus at their budgeted exchange rates and this applied also to executive management who are capped at 100%.  Non-
commissioned staff fully aligned with SUSE were targeted 50% on improvement in Underlying Adjusted EBITDA of the Group and 50% 
on delivery of Annual Contract Value (“ACV”) growth targets in SUSE. Their bonus payment was 126% of their on target amount, 
reflecting stronger than targeted achievement in the ACV component. The amount charged to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income in respect of the Corporate Bonus plan in the actual results for the year ended 30 April 2016 was $45.6m.  
 
Delivering value to shareholders 

The board has adopted a very clear plan of value creation. 
 

Our priority is to improve the performance of the business in order to maximize the opportunity to generate modest revenue growth in 
the medium-term.  At the same time we have created flexibility to allow value creation to shareholders through cash distributions or 
acquisitions as appropriate.  We will do nothing that will constrain our ability to achieve organic growth and we are currently investing 
significant amounts on activities designed to enhance growth. 
 
The Company’s market capitalization at 30 April 2016 was £3,496.5m. The original Micro Focus shareholders prior to the announcement 
of the TAG transaction who now own 56.8% of the Company have seen their total investment increase from £1,178.6m to £1,986.0m over 
a period of 19 months and during that period have received a Return of Value of £83.9m and ordinary dividends of £55.0m. 

 
The board is targeting a net debt to Facility EBITDA multiple of approximately 2.5 times. This is a modest level of gearing for a company 
with the cash generating qualities of Micro Focus.  We are confident that this level of debt would not reduce our ability to deliver growth, 
invest in products and/or make appropriate acquisitions. As the integration of the businesses continues the board will keep the 
appropriate level of debt under review. 
 
In order to complete the acquisition of Serena the Company extended its revolving credit facility from $225.0m to $375.0m on 2 May 
2016 and raised money from shareholders for the first time since the IPO in May 2005 when it placed 10.9m shares with institutional 
investors raising $222.7m net of expenses in March 2016.   
 
At 30 April 2016 we had net debt of $1,078.0m which was prior to the completion of the Serena acquisition. Once the transaction 
completed the pro-forma net debt was $1,625.0m representing a pro-forma net debt to pro-forma Facility EBITDA of 2.51 times. 
  
On completion of the TAG acquisition the board adopted a progressive dividend policy whilst the net debt to Facility EBITDA was above 
2.5 times.  Absent a significant acquisition, share buy-back opportunity or unforeseen circumstances the net debt to Facility EBITDA 
multiple will be below 2.5 times at the end of April 2017 and so the board is proposing an increase in the dividend payout such that it 
is 2 times covered by the adjusted earnings of the Group. This policy will take effect from the proposed final dividend of 49.74 cents 
(2015: 33.00 cents per share), which represents a 50.7% increase on last year’s final dividend and gives a total proposed dividend for 
the year of 66.68 cents per share (2015: 48.40 cents), an increase of 37.8%. 

 
The dividend will be paid in Sterling equivalent to 37.40 pence per share, based on an exchange rate of £1 = $1.33, the rate applicable 
on 13 July 2016, the date on which the board resolved to propose the dividend. The dividend will be paid on 7 October 2016 to 
shareholders on the register at 2 September 2016. 
 
In line with our target net debt to Facility EBITDA multiple of 2.5 times and consistent with our shareholder return policy it is the board’s 
current intention, absent a significant acquisition, share buy-back opportunity or unforeseen circumstances, to make a further Return 
of Value to shareholders in calendar year 2017. 
 
Board changes and succession planning 

Since April 2011 I had held the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive. In December we announced that effective from 1 February 
2016, I would be Executive Chairman and that Stephen Murdoch and Nils Brauckmann would become CEO of Micro Focus and CEO 
of SUSE respectively. 
 
During the year there were a number of other board changes. 
 
At the AGM in September 2015, Tom Skelton stepped down from the board after serving as a non-executive director for nine years. 
We would like to thank Tom for his contribution to the success of Micro Focus. Karen Geary who joined the board as a non-executive 
in January 2015 has now become Group HR Director and a member of the senior management team. Prescott Ashe and David Golob 
stepped down from the board on 1 February 2016 in anticipation of Wizard’s shareholding reducing below 15%. 
 
Stephen Murdoch and Nils Brauckmann joined the board on 1 February 2016 as CEO’s of Micro Focus and SUSE respectively whilst 
on the same day Steve Schuckenbrock joined as an independent non-executive director. 
 
Finally, we were delighted to welcome Amanda Brown to the board on 1 July 2016 as a non-executive director. 
 
We welcome the new members of our board and biographical details of all board members will be available in the Annual Report 
and Accounts. 
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Outlook 

During FY17, in accordance with our four phase plan, we intend to stabilize revenues around a solid core from which we aim to grow 
in FY18. As a result we anticipate revenues in FY17 being in the range minus 2% and zero% on FY16 on a CCY basis, pro-forma for 
the acquisition of Serena as set out in the Financial Review section below.  
 
Having delivered 11 years of approximately 26.4% compound returns to investors we believe we have a strong operational and financial 
model that can continue to scale and provide excellent returns to our shareholders. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Kevin Loosemore 
Executive Chairman 

13 July 2016 
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Financial Review 
 
Due to the significant size of the TAG acquisition the directors believe that the full year results are better understood by comparing the 
actual results in the year with the pro-forma CCY results of the combination of TAG and Base Micro Focus in the comparable period.  
In arriving at pro-forma CCY results for the comparable period of the 12 months ended 30 April 2015 the directors have combined the 
unaudited internal management information for TAG for the period from 1 May 2014 to 19 November 2014 and then added in the Base 
Micro Focus results for the 12 months ended 30 April 2015 with the TAG audited results from 20 November 2014 to 30 April 2015 
converted at the same average monthly exchange rates experienced in the year to 30 April 2016. 
 
Following our integration review in FY15 we decided that the Group should operate two product portfolios from 1 May 2015 (i) Micro 
Focus and (ii) SUSE. These are the reporting segments and the cash generating units for the Group going forward. 
 
The Micro Focus product portfolio contains our mature infrastructure software products that are managed on a portfolio basis akin to a 
“fund of funds” investment portfolio. This portfolio is being managed with a single product group that makes and maintains the software, 
whilst the software is sold and supported through a geographic GTM organization. As part of the integration review we have grouped 
the products together into five sub portfolios based on industrial logic. There was significant organizational change in the Micro Focus 
product portfolio in bringing together the prior organizations and we have been delighted with the progress during FY16. 
 
In comparison, the SUSE product portfolio experienced much less change at the beginning of the financial year in the way that it 
operated. SUSE’s characteristics are different due to the Open Source nature of its offerings and the growth profile of those offerings. 
 
Our revenue guidance at the beginning of the year and after the Interim results in December 2015 was for revenues to decline by 
between 2% and 4% when compared to the pro-forma CCY revenues of the comparable period with growth in SUSE expected to 
partially offset the anticipated decline in the Micro Focus product portfolios based on the revenue trends in the sub-portfolios. The 
guidance took account of the fair value deferred revenue accounting haircut of $16.6m (2015: $17.0m) taken at the time of the 
acquisition of TAG.  
 
The performance in the year was at the top of management’s guidance with overall revenues declining by 2.0% when compared to pro-
forma CCY revenues.  
 
The breakdown in revenue within the two Product Portfolios by revenue type compared to the pro-forma CCY revenues in the year to 
30 April 2016 and the year ended 30 April 2015 is shown in the table below:   

 

 

Year 
ended 

30 April 2016 
Actual 

 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2015 
Pro-forma 

CCY1 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2016  
Pro-forma CCY 

(Decline)/Growth 

Year  
ended 

30 April 2015 
Actual 

 
 $m $m % $m 
Micro Focus Product Portfolio     
Licence 304.8 320.3 (4.8%) 261.0   
Maintenance 644.5 686.3 (6.1%) 440.6  
Consultancy 41.9 49.4 (15.2%) 31.8  

 991.2 1,056.0 (6.1%) 733.4   

     
SUSE Product Portfolio     
Licence - - - - 
Maintenance - - - - 
Subscription 248.9 210.5 18.2% 98.2  
Consultancy 4.9 4.2 16.7% 2.9   

 253.8 214.7 18.2% 101.1  

     
     

     
Total Revenue     
Licence 304.8 320.3 (4.8%) 261.0  
Maintenance 644.5 686.3 (6.1%) 440.6  
Subscription 248.9 210.5 18.2% 98.2  
Consultancy 46.8 53.6 (12.7%) 34.7  

Revenue 1,245.0 1,270.7 (2.0%) 834.5  
1 unaudited 
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The table below provides the proportion of revenue delivered during FY16 by each of the portfolios and the comparison to the pro-
forma FY15 CCY revenues with Micro Focus broken out into its sub-portfolios: 

 

  

Percentage of  
FY16  

revenues  

Percentage of  
FY15  Pro-forma 
CCY revenues1 

COBOL Development & Mainframe Solutions 20.8% 20.1% 

Host Connectivity 15.9% 16.1% 

Identity, Access & Security 17.4% 17.1% 

Development & IT Operations Management Tools 12.6% 14.3% 

Collaboration & Networking  12.9% 15.5% 

Micro Focus Portfolio 79.6% 83.1% 

SUSE Portfolio 20.4% 16.9% 

Micro Focus Group 100.0% 100.0% 
1 unaudited 

 
We are providing additional Key Performance Indicators ("KPIs") for the SUSE product portfolio for the first time in this set of 
results.  Total Contract Value ("TCV") is the amount invoiced to customers (excluding sales tax) in respect of new contracts and 
renewals completed in the year. The weighted average contract length expressed in months, reflecting the duration of the TCV is also 
being provided as growth in TCV alone without this information is potentially misleading. Finally we are providing ACV which aims to 
normalize contract length by only including the first 12 months of each new contract or renewal included within TCV.  Where the contract 
length is less than 12 months all of the TCV is included in ACV. 

 
We are not providing renewal rate information for SUSE or Micro Focus within this set of results. Our methodology is still being refined 
in order to accommodate data from our multiple systems. Once we have a common methodology and are content with the data we will 
provide clear explanations of both. In the meantime we believe that following the trends on the maintenance revenue for the Micro 
Focus sub-portfolios and subscription revenues for SUSE provide the best guidance on performance. 
 
The table below shows revenues for the year by region and the pro-forma CCY revenue for the year to 30 April 2015 and the reported 
revenue for the year ended 30 April 2015:  

 

 

Year 
ended 

30 April  2016 
Actual 

 
 

$m 

Year  
ended  

30 April  2015 
Pro-forma 

CCY1 

  
$m 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2015  
Pro-forma  

CCY 
(Decline)/Growth 

% 

Year 
ended 

30 April 2015 
Actual 

 
 

 $m 

Micro Focus      

North America 525.2    561.4 (6.4%) 367.3  

International 377.0 395.1 (4.6%)  289.8  

Asia Pacific & Japan 89.0 99.5 (10.6%) 76.3  

Total  991.2 1,056.0 (6.1%) 733.4 

SUSE     

North America 108.6 87.4 24.3% 41.2  

International 115.6 98.4 17.5% 47.2  

Asia Pacific & Japan 29.6 28.9 2.4% 12.7  

Total 253.8 214.7 18.2% 101.1 

Group     

North America 633.8 648.8 (2.3%) 408.5  

International 492.6 493.5 (0.2%) 337.0  

Asia Pacific & Japan 118.6 128.4 (7.6%) 89.0  

Total revenue 1,245.0 1,270.7 (2.0%) 
 

834.5  
1 unaudited 

 
Detailed analysis of the revenue performance of each of the product portfolios is provided in the CEO reports. 
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Operating costs  

The operating costs (including exceptional costs of $27.9m) for the year compared with the prior year on a pro-forma basis at CCY 
and the prior year reported costs are shown below: 

 

Year 
 ended 

30 April 2016 
Actual 

 
 

Year 
ended 

 30 April  2015 
Pro-forma 

CCY 1 
  

Year 
ended  

30 April 2016  
Pro-forma 

CCY 
(Growth)/Decline  

Year  
ended 

30 April 2015 
Actual 

 
 

 $m $m % $m 

Cost of goods sold 135.4 161.3 16.1% 91.5 

Selling and distribution 416.3 433.8 4.0% 290.5 

Research and development 259.4 254.2 (2.0%) 162.3 

Administrative expenses 139.0 265.8 47.7% 143.0 

Total operating costs 950.1 1,115.1 14.8% 687.3 
1 unaudited 

 
On a pro-forma CCY basis, cost of goods sold for the year decreased by $25.9m to $135.4m (2015: pro-forma CCY $161.3m) of which 
the exceptional costs were $2.2m (2015: pro-forma-CCY $4.6m). The reduction is partly as a result of lower consulting revenues and 
cost saving actions taken at the end of the prior year. The costs in this category predominantly relate to our consulting and helpline 
support operations.  
 
Selling and distribution costs, excluding the amortization of purchased trade names and customer relationships intangible assets of 
$106.7m (2015: pro-forma CCY $79.6m), were $309.6m (2015: pro-forma CCY $354.2m). Within these costs were exceptional costs 
of $4.4m (2015: pro-forma CCY $19.8m), thus the underlying costs were $305.2m (2015: pro-forma CCY $334.4m), a reduction of 
8.7% on the prior year on a pro-forma CCY basis. The reduction was due mostly to cost saving actions taken at the end of FY15. 
 
Research and development expenses, excluding the amortization of purchased technology intangible assets of $75.2m (2015: pro-
forma CCY $43.8m), were $184.2m (2015: pro-forma CCY $210.4m), and after exceptional costs of $1.3m (2015: pro-forma CCY 
$3.1m), the resultant costs were $182.9m (2015: pro-forma CCY $207.3m)  a reduction of 11.8% on the prior year on a pro-forma CCY 
basis.  
 
This figure is equivalent to approximately 14.7% of revenue (2015: pro-forma CCY 16.5%). The impact of net capitalization of internal 
development costs was $11.4m (2015: net amortization pro-forma CCY $0.1m). Research and development costs prior to amortization 
of purchased intangibles, exceptional items and the capitalization and amortization of internal development costs were $194.3m (2015: 
pro-forma CCY $207.2m) a decline of 6.2% as a result of the cost saving actions taken in the second half of FY15. At 30 April 2016 the 
net book value of capitalized development costs on the consolidated statement of financial position was $43.2m (2015: $31.4m).  

 
Administrative expenses were $139.0m (2015: pro-forma CCY $265.8m). Excluding share based compensation of $28.8m (2015: pro-
forma CCY $15.5m), exceptional costs of $20.1m (2015: pro-forma CCY $161.3m) and an exchange gain of $2.9m (2015: pro-forma 
CCY gain of $12.6m), administrative expenses decreased by 8.5% to $93.0m (2015: pro-forma CCY $101.6m). The decrease has 
arisen mostly from the reduction in managers and fewer properties. Share based compensation was $28.8m (2015: pro-forma CCY 
$15.5m), being ASG cost of $10.4m (2015: pro-forma CCY $3.7m), LTIP cost of $17.5m (2015: pro-forma CCY $11.3m) and Sharesave 
Scheme costs of $0.9m (2015: pro-forma CCY $0.5m). 
 
Amortization of purchased intangibles for the year was $181.9m (2015: pro-forma CCY $123.4m). This growth is as a result of the TAG 
acquisition being completed part way through the prior year. 
 
Adjusted Operating Costs were $711.5m (2015: pro-forma CCY $787.3m) a fall of $75.8m. The reduction in Adjusted Operating Costs 
arose mostly from efficiencies from the restructuring exercise taken at the end of the last financial year, the rationalization of the property 
portfolio, capitalization of some of TAG’s development costs following the introduction of a suitable time recording system and a tighter 
control over discretionary costs offset by the increased investment in SUSE directly controlled costs. 
 
The exceptional costs in the year were $27.9m (2015: pro-forma CCY $188.8m) including: 

 Year  
ended 

30 April 2016 
Actual 

$m 

Year  
ended 

30 April 2015 
Pro-forma CCY1 

$m 

Integration costs 23.6 7.7 
Acquisition and pre-acquisition costs 6.1 116.8 
Severance costs (4.8) 30.7 
Property costs 6.0 18.2 
Impairment of intangible assets - 15.4 
Royalty provision releases (3.0) - 

 27.9 188.8 
1 unaudited 

Currency impact 



 

10 

 

During the year to 30 April 2016, 61.6% of our revenues were contracted in US dollars, 20.9% in Euros, 5.0% in Sterling, 3.6% in Yen 
and 8.9% in other currencies. In comparison, 51.9% of our costs are US dollar denominated, 12.7% in Sterling, 18.9% in Euros, 1.6% 
in Yen and 14.9% in other currencies.   
 
This weighting of revenue and costs means that if the US$: Euro or US$: Yen exchange rates move during the period, the revenue 
impact is greater than the cost impact, whilst if US$: Sterling rate moves during the period the cost impact exceeds the revenue impact. 
Consequently, actual US$ EBITDA can be impacted by significant movements in US$ to Euro, Yen and Sterling exchange rates.    
 
The currency movement for the US dollar against Sterling, Euro and Yen was a strengthening of 6.4%, 12.2% and 7.5% respectively 
when looking at the average exchange rates in the year ended 30 April 2016 compared to those in the year ended 30 April 2015.  In 
order to provide CCY comparatives, we have restated the pro-forma results of the Group for the 12 months ended 30 April 2015 at the 
same average exchange rates as those used in reported results for the year ended 30 April 2016. Consequently, revenues reduce from 
$1,320.7m to $1,270.7m, a reduction of 3.8%, and Underlying Adjusted EBITDA reduces from $503.0m to $486.8m, a reduction of 
3.2%. 

 
The United Kingdom’s referendum vote in favour of leaving the European Union (“Brexit”) on 23 June 2016 has created significant 
changes in the US dollar exchange rates with sterling, Euro and Yen. Compared with the average exchange rates experienced in FY16, 
as at 7 July 2016 Sterling has weakened from $1.50 to $1.29, the Euro has remained at $1.11 and the Yen has strengthened from 
$0.0085 to $0.0099. If these exchange rates were experienced for the remainder of FY17 (“FY17 Exchange Rates”) then the CCY 
number for FY16 would be revenue of $1,247.1m and Underlying Adjusted EBITDA of $543.8m compared with reported revenue of 
$1,245.0m and reported Underlying Adjusted EBITDA of $532.5m. A 1% weakening in the exchange rate on these 7 July 2016 
exchange rates would have the following impact on the FY16 CCY numbers: 
 

  Impact of a 1% movement in USD Exchange Rate 

Currency 

 
7 July 2016 USD Exchange 

Rate 
Revenue 

$m 
Costs 

$m 

Underlying 
Adjusted EBITDA 

$m 

Sterling 1.295 1.282 (0.3) 0.6 0.3 
Euro 1.108 1.097 (1.2) 1.1 (0.1) 
Yen 0.00991 0.00981 (0.3) 0.1 (0.2) 

 
Intercompany loan arrangements within the Group are typically denominated in the local currency of the overseas affiliate.  
Consequently, any movement in the respective local currency and US$ will have an impact on the converted US$ value of the loans. 
This foreign exchange movement is taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The Group’s UK Corporation Tax 
liability is denominated in Sterling and any movement of the US$: Sterling rate will give rise to a foreign exchange gain or loss which is 
also taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The foreign exchange gain for the period is approximately $2.9m 
(2015: pro-forma CCY gain of $12.6m). 
 
Adjusted EBITDA and Underlying Adjusted EBITDA 

Adjusted EBITDA in the year increased by $47.5m to $546.8m (2015: pro-forma CCY $499.3m). The increase in Adjusted EBITDA is 
as a result of a reduction in adjusted operating costs which arose mostly from efficiencies from the restructuring exercise taken at the 
end of the last financial year, the rationalization of the property portfolio, capitalization of some of TAG’s development costs following 
the introduction of a suitable time recording system and a tighter control over discretionary costs offset by a reduction in foreign 
exchange credit. Underlying Adjusted EBITDA in the year increased by $45.7m to $532.5m (2015: pro-forma CCY $486.8m) at a margin 
of 42.8% (2015: pro-forma CCY 38.3%). The increase in Underlying Adjusted EBITDA is smaller as it does not benefit from the net 
capitalization of development costs nor suffer from the reduction in foreign exchange credit.  
 

 
 
 
 

Year ended 
30 April 2016 

Actual 
 
 
 

Year ended  
30 April 2015 

Pro-forma 
CCY1 

 

  

Year  
ended  

30 April 2016  
Pro-forma 

 CCY  
(Decline)/Growth 

Year  
ended 

30 April 2015 
Actual 

 
 

 $m $m % $m 

Revenue 1,245.0 1,270.7 (2.0%) 834.5 

     

Adjusted EBITDA 546.8 499.3 9.5% 357.6 

Foreign exchange gain (2.9) (12.6)  (9.4) 
Net (capitalization)/amortization of 
development costs (11.4) 0.1  0.1 

Underlying Adjusted EBITDA 532.5 486.8 9.4% 348.3 

Underlying Adjusted EBITDA Margin 42.8% 38.3% 4.5% 41.7% 
1 unaudited 

 
Both revenue and EBITDA in the current period have been reduced by the unwinding of the fair value deferred revenue haircut of 
$16.6m (2015: pro-forma CCY $17.0m, reported $17.0m) that was applied as part of the acquisition of TAG. 
We are providing profitability metrics for our two product portfolios for the first time in this set of results. The portfolios have directly 
controlled costs and then an allocation of costs of the functions that are managed within the Micro Focus portfolio and provide services 
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to both portfolios together with centrally managed support function costs.  Note 8 provides the breakdown to Adjusted Operating Profit 
for the period and the table below summarises the reconciliation between Adjusted Operating Profit and Adjusted EBITDA and 
Underlying Adjusted EBITDA and is also in note 8: 
 

 

Year ended 30 April 2016 

Actual 

 Year ended 30 April 2015 

Pro-forma CCY1 

 

Micro 
Focus SUSE Group 

 Micro 
Focus 

SUSE Group 

 $m $m $m  $m $m $m 

Segment revenue 991.2 253.8 1,245.0  1,056.0 214.7 1,270.7 
        
Directly managed costs (566.4) (145.1) (711.5)  (663.4) (123.9) (787.3) 
Allocation of centrally managed costs 28.9 (28.9) -  32.1 (32.1) - 

Total Adjusted Operating costs (537.5) (174.0) (711.5)  (631.3) (156.0) (787.3) 

        

Adjusted Operating Profit 453.7 79.8 533.5  424.7 58.7 483.4 

Margin 45.8% 31.4% 42.9%  40.2% 27.3% 38.0% 

        

        

Adjusted Operating Profit 453.7 79.8 533.5  424.7 58.7 483.4 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9.7 1.7 11.4  11.4 2.0 13.4 
Amortization of software intangibles 1.7 0.2 1.9  2.1 0.4 2.5 

Adjusted EBITDA 465.1 81.7 546.8  438.2 61.1 499.3 
Foreign exchange credit (2.6) (0.3) (2.9)  (11.7) (0.9) (12.6) 
Net capitalization of development costs (11.4) - (11.4)  0.1 - 0.1 

Underlying Adjusted EBITDA 451.1 81.4 532.5  426.6 60.2 486.8 
1 unaudited 

 
Operating profit  

Operating profit was $294.9m (2015: pro-forma CCY $155.6m). Within the operating profit is $27.9m (2015: pro-forma CCY $188.8m) 
of exceptional costs. Adjusted operating profit was $533.5m (2015: pro-forma CCY $483.4m).  
 
Net finance costs  

Net finance costs were $97.3m (2015: pro-forma CCY $120.6m) including the amortization of $13.8m (2015: pro-forma CCY $9.2m) of 
prepaid facility arrangement, original issue discounts and facility fees incurred on the Group’s loan facilities, loan interest and 
commitment fees of $83.5m (2015: pro-forma CCY $112.6m), interest on pension liability $0.5m (2015: pro-forma CCY $0.7m) and 
other interest costs of $0.5m (2015: pro-forma CCY $0.1m) offset by $1.0m (2015: pro-forma CCY $2.0m) of interest received. Net 
finance costs have decreased by $23.3m, mostly due to reduced loan interest and commitment fees ($29.1m) offset by an increase in 
the amortization of prepaid facility arrangement, original issue discounts and facility fees ($4.6m). 
 
Profit before tax and adjusted profit before tax 

Profit before tax was $195.4m (2015: pro-forma CCY $48.3m). The profit before tax has primarily increased in the year when compared 
to the 2015 pro-forma CCY as a result of improved Adjusted EBITDA ($47.5m), a reduction in pro-forma CCY exceptional costs of 
$160.9m offset by an increase in the amortization of purchased intangibles following the TAG acquisition of $58.5m, lower net finance 
costs of $23.3m, no repeat of other income of $14.9m received by TAG prior to the acquisition date and an increase in the share based 
compensation charge of $13.3m.  
 
Adjusted profit before tax was $434.0m (2015: pro-forma CCY $386.2m) and the table below shows the reconciliation between profit 
before tax and adjusted profit before tax: 

 

 
 

Year 
 ended 

30 April 2016 
Actual 

 

Year  
ended 

 30 April 2015 
Pro-forma 

CCY 1 

Year 
ended  

30 April 2016  
Pro-forma CCY 

 Growth/(Decline)  

Year  
ended 

30 April  2015 
Actual 

 
 $m $m % $m 

Profit before tax  195.4 48.3 304.6% 91.4 
Share based compensation 28.8 15.5 85.8% 15.5 
Amortization of purchased intangibles 181.9 123.4 47.4% 88.3 
Exceptional costs 27.9 188.8 (85.2%) 96.7 
Exceptional finance costs - 10.2 (100.0%) 2.4 

Adjusted profit before tax 434.0 386.2 12.4% 294.3 
1 unaudited 

 
 

 
Taxation 

The tax charge for the period was $32.4m (2015: credit of $10.0m) with the Group’s effective tax rate (“ETR”) being 16.6% (2015: minus 
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11.0%). The ETR on adjusted profit before tax (“Adjusted ETR”) was 23.1% (2015: 21.2%) as set out in the following table: 

 

 
 

Year ended 30 April 2016 

 

Year ended 30 April 2015 

 
 

 
Actual 

 
Adjusts 

Adjusted 
measures 

 
Actual Adjusts 

Other tax 
items 

Adjusted 
measures 

 $m $m $m  $m $m $m $m 

 
Profit before tax 

 
195.4 

 
238.6 

 
434.0 

 
91.4 202.9 

 
- 

 
294.3 

Taxation 

 
(32.4) 

 
(67.8) 

 
(100.2) 

 
10.0 (62.5) 

 
(9.9) 

 
(62.4) 

Profit after tax 

 
163.0 

 
170.8 

 
333.8 

 
101.4 140.4 

 
(9.9) 

 
231.9 

Effective tax rate 

 
16.6% 

  
23.1% 

 (11.0%
)  

  
21.2% 

 
In computing adjusted profit before tax, $238.6m of adjustments have been made for the items shown in the adjusted profit before tax 
section above, of which the associated tax is $67.8m.  
 
The Adjusted ETR for the year ended 30 April 2016 (23.1%) is higher than the previous year (2015: 21.2%). This is due to the fact that 
the Group’s adjusted profit includes a full year of profit from TAG, which is taxed at higher rates, particularly in the US (where a 
proportion of earnings of non-US subsidiaries of TAG have also been taxed). This increase is partly offset by a full year’s worth of 
benefit from the intra-group financing arrangement, which was put in place as part of the acquisition of TAG. 
 
The Group continues to benefit from the UK’s Patent Box regime. Benefits during the year are $7.6m compared to $6.0m in the previous 
year.  
 
The Group’s medium-term Adjusted ETR is expected to be between 23% and 27% of the Group’s adjusted profit before tax. The 
increase compared to the forecast at 30 April 2015 of 21% to 25% is due to the impact of changes with regards to the deductibility of 
interest expense in the UK, which are expected to come into effect from April 2017, and wider uncertainty around the future impact of 
the OECD’s Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (“BEPS”) initiative. The acquisition of Serena is not expected to have a significant impact 
on the Group’s medium-term ETR. The enacted reductions in the UK’s corporation tax rate from 20% currently to 19% from 1 April 
2017 and 18% from 1 April 2020 are not expected to give rise to a material reduction in the ETR. 
 
The Group’s cash taxes paid in the period were $79.3m (2015: net repayment of $1.8m) reflecting the following factors: 
 
1. The Group paid $24.5m in respect of an Accelerated Payment notice issued by HMRC in relation to the historic tax issue disclosed 

in previous years, which impacts UK tax returns from 2009 until 2015.  Further details are set out below. 
 

2. The Group paid $27.2m in respect of forecast US Federal income tax liabilities for the current and previous year. Following a 
recalculation of the impact of temporary differences, including the offset of brought forward deferred tax assets, these liabilities 
are now expected to be significantly lower than previously anticipated. This accounts for the majority of the current tax receivables 
shown on the balance sheet of $18.0m. 

 
3. In the previous year, TAG received $17.0m of cash in the post-acquisition period relating to the settlement of tax audits and 

historic overpayments of tax in the US. 
 
4. As disclosed previously, the Group has benefited from a lower cash rate of tax in recent years as a result of an ongoing claim with 

HMRC in the UK, based on tax legislation, impacting its tax returns for the years ended 30 April 2009 through to 2015. The Group 
maintains a provision for the potential liability in its consolidated financial statements. A payment of $24.5m was made in 
accordance with an Accelerated Payment Notice issued by HMRC which covers the years up to 30 April 2014. The remaining 
provision at 30 April 2016 is $5.6m (including interest on overdue tax of $3.1m) compared to $31.2m at 30 April 2015. 

5.  
6. The Group is one of a number of companies that have submitted similar claims. During the year, a test case chosen to establish 

the correct interpretation of the legislation was heard by the First-tier Tribunal, which ruled in favour of HMRC. The precise 
implications for the Group’s claim are subject to further discussion with HMRC. 

7.  
8. When the tax position is agreed with HMRC, then to the extent that the tax liability is lower than that provided in the consolidated 

statement of financial position, there would be a positive benefit to the tax charge in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income in the year of settlement and a refund of any amounts paid under the Accelerated Payment notice in excess of the agreed 
liability. 

 
Profit after tax  

Profit after tax increased by 60.6% to $163.0m (2015: $101.5m reported). 
 
 
 
 
Goodwill 

The largest item on the consolidated statement of financial position is goodwill at $2,436.2m (2015: $2,421.7m) arising from acquisitions 
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made by the Group. In the year goodwill has increased due to the acquisition of Authasas BV ($8.9m) and hindsight adjustments from 
acquisition of TAG ($5.6m) (note 13).   

 
Capital structure of the Group 

As at the 30 April 2016 the market capitalization of the Group was £3,496.5m, equivalent to $5,104.9m at an exchange rate of $1.46 
to £1.  The pro-forma net debt of the Group following completion of the Serena acquisition was $1,625.0m resulting in an Enterprise 
Value of $6,729.8m. The board believes that this capital structure is appropriate for the Group’s requirements.  
 
The debt facilities of the Group were put in place at the time of the acquisition of TAG on 20 November 2014 and totaled $2,000.0m 
under a credit agreement comprising a $1,275.0m seven year Term Loan B, a $500.0m five year Term Loan C and a $225.0m Revolving 
Facility (together “the New Facilities”).  As part of the Serena acquisition additional Revolving Facilities commitments of $150.0m in 
total were obtained on 2 May 2016 from Barclays, HSBC and The Royal Bank of Scotland.  
 
During the current financial year mandatory repayments of $12.75m of the Term Loan B and $50.0m of the Term Loan C were made 
together with a draw-down of $245.0m and repayment of $95.0m of the Revolving Facility.   
 
At 30 April 2016, $225.0m of the Revolving Facility was drawn, in anticipation of the completion of the Serena acquisition, together with 
$1,112.25m of Term Loan B and $450.0m of Term Loan C giving gross debt of $1,787.25m drawn. On 2 May 2016 the Revolving 
Facility was extended by $150.0m and this increased the total facilities available to the Group to $1,937.25m.  

 
The only financial covenant attaching to these new facilities relates to the Revolving Facility, which is subject to an aggregate net 
leverage covenant only in circumstances where more than 35% of the Revolving Facility is outstanding at a fiscal quarter end. At 30 
April 2016 $225.0m of the Revolving Facility available at that time was drawn representing 100%, reducing to 60% on 2 May 2016 
when the facility was extended.  The covenant calculation indicates that the Group had in excess of 140% headroom against the 
covenant test. 

 
The terms of Micro Focus existing Facilities are as follows: 
  
(a)  In relation to the senior secured term loan B of $1,275.0m: an interest rate of 4.25% above LIBOR (subject to a LIBOR floor of 
1.00%), amortizing at 1.00% per annum, with an original issue discount of 1.00% and a 7 year term; 
  
(b)  In relation to the senior secured term loan C of $500.0m: an interest rate of 3.75% above LIBOR (subject to a LIBOR floor of 
0.75%), amortizing at 10.00% per annum, with an original issue discount of 1.50% and a 5 year term; and 
  
(c)  In relation to the senior secured revolving credit facility of $225.0m: an initial interest rate of 3.50% above LIBOR, and an original 
issue discount of 0.50%. 

 
The Revolving Facility was increased to $375.0m on 2 May 2016 as part of the funding for the Serena acquisition (note 27). 
 
Total equity  

The total equity of the Group is $1,593.7m with a merger reserve of $988.1m.  
 
Cash flow and net debt 

The Group’s cash generated from operations was $455.7m (2015: $288.7m). This represented a cash conversion ratio when compared 
to Adjusted EBITDA less exceptional items of 87.8% (2015: 110.6%). The decline in the ratio is mainly related to negative working 
capital impacts arising from having higher trade receivables at the year end and the settlements during the year of prior year 
restructuring provisions. Trade receivables are higher due to the change in the TAG year end in FY16 from March to April. 
 
As at 30 April 2016 the net debt of the Group was $1,078.0m (2015: $1,403.5m) comprising gross debt of $1,787.25m (2015: 
$1,700.0m), cash balances of $667.2m (2015: $241.3m) and pre-paid loan arrangements fees of $42.0m (2015: $55.1m). An equity 
placement of 10.9m shares in March 2016 raised $222.7m (net of expenses). The most significant cash outflows during the period 
were the payment of the final dividend for last year of $70.0m, interim dividend of $35.1m, $10.0m in respect of the acquisition of 
Authasas BV, bank loan net repayments of $157.8m, corporate taxes of $79.3m, payment for tangible and intangible assets of $44.8m 
and interest and loan costs of $93.6m. 

 
Dividend  

On completion of the TAG acquisition the board adopted a progressive dividend policy whilst the net debt to Facility EBITDA was above 
2.5 times. Absent a significant acquisition, share buy-back opportunity or unforeseen circumstances the net debt to Facility EBITDA 
multiple will be below 2.5 times at the end of April 2017 and so the board is proposing an increase in the dividend payout such that it 
is 2 times covered by the adjusted earnings of the Group. This policy will take effect from the proposed final dividend of 49.74 cents 
(2015: 33.00 cents per share), which represents a 50.7% increase on last year’s final dividend and gives a total proposed dividend for 
the year of 66.68 cents per share (2015: 48.40 cents), an increase of 37.8%. 
 
The dividend will be paid in Sterling equivalent to 37.40 pence per share, based on an exchange rate of £1 = $1.33 being the rate 
applicable on 13 July 2016, the date on which the board resolved to propose the dividend. The dividend will be paid on 7 October 2016 
to shareholders on the register at 2 September 2016. 
 
 
FY16 pro-forma figures for Serena 

In their financial year ended 31 January 2016, Serena delivered unaudited revenues of $162.3m and Underlying Adjusted EBITDA 



 

14 

 

of $80.9m. Applying the FY17 Exchange Rates to these numbers reduces revenue to $161.1m and increases Underlying Adjusted 
EBITDA to $81.0m. Adding these numbers to the FY16 CCY numbers at FY17 Exchange Rates for the Group revenues of 
$1,247.1m and Underlying Adjusted EBITDA of $543.8m would give pro-forma FY16 CCY numbers for the Enlarged Group at 
FY17 Exchange Rates of revenue of $1,408.2m and Underlying Adjusted EBITDA of $624.8m. 
 
Group risk factors 

As with all businesses, the Group is affected by certain risks, not wholly within our control, which could have a material impact on the 
Group’s long-term performance and cause actual results to differ materially from forecast and historic results.   
 
The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set out in note 28.  
 
 
 
 
Mike Phillips 
Chief Financial Officer 

13 July 2016 
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CEO Review – Micro Focus Product Portfolio 
 

Introduction 

The Micro Focus product portfolio represents 79.6% of total Group revenue in FY16 (2015: pro-forma CCY 83.1%).  
 
From within the Micro Focus product portfolio we also manage, for the Group overall, the corporate support functions of HR, IT, 
Facilities, Finance, Legal and the Project Management Office (“PMO”) for acquisitions and integration. In addition we manage the 
delivery of a shared service for other elements of infrastructure support to the SUSE portfolio. This enables the Group to operate 
effectively and SUSE to directly control what they need to execute with speed and flexibility whilst leveraging the larger Group where 
effective. Wherever practical the shared functions staffs are dedicated to product portfolios, including SUSE, in order to provide the 
additional benefit of specialization whilst leveraging the scale of the shared function.   
 
Progress in FY16 

During 2016 our focus has been on integrating the different businesses into a more coherent whole. This has involved significant 
volumes and complexity of work spanning structure, people, processes, systems and infrastructure across multiple operational entities.  
 
Highlights include: 

 Completion of the initial restructuring work to ensure stability and focus on delivery of our financial commitments; 

 Delivery of significant levels of synergies; 

 Simplification of the branding to Micro Focus and SUSE from Micro Focus, SUSE, Borland, Net IQ, Attachmate and Novell 
underpinned by two completely new web domains of microfocus.com and suse.com;  

 Creation of dedicated GTM organizations for SUSE and Micro Focus focused on quarterly instead of annual performance; 

 Rationalization of our property portfolio from 128 offices in November 2014 to 83 offices at 30 April 2016; and 

 Creation of a comprehensive IT systems strategy for the Group. 
 
Much of the above is ongoing, most notably in the area of systems where our stated goal of standardizing systems will take longer to 
deliver than originally anticipated. Progress has been made throughout the year in our systems programme, for example reducing from 
five customer relationship management (“CRM”) systems to one. We now have a comprehensive plan built on detailed analysis work 
to define and map our processes and build target enterprise application and technical infrastructure environments. This will  enable us 
to move to the execution phase from a much improved position in terms of clarity and stability but is still a very significant undertaking.   
 
The above touches on the breadth of work underway and there remains a huge amount to do. However, progress is encouraging and 
the foundations required for ongoing delivery of our business model are beginning to emerge. 
 
On 2 May 2016 we completed the acquisition of Serena. Serena is a leading provider of Application Lifecycle Management products. 
Its product offering will be integrated into the existing Micro Focus Development and IT Operations Management Tools (“Development 
& ITOM”) portfolio, further enhancing both our expertise in mainframe computing and distributed software change management.  We 
intend to continue developing the full portfolio of Serena’s products, and we will aim to identify how additional customer value and 
capability can be realized for Serena customers, leveraging related Micro Focus software development and software quality solutions.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Revenue for the year by product portfolio at actual exchange rates and CCY pro-forma and reported comparatives are shown in the 
table below:  
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Year 
ended 

30 April 2016 
Actual 

 
 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2015 
Pro-forma 

CCY1 

 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2016  
Pro-forma  

CCY 
(Decline)/Growth 

Year  
ended 

30 April 2015 
Actual 

 
 

 $m $m % $m 
Micro Focus Product Portfolio 
CDMS 

  
  

Licence 104.7 105.9 (1.1%) 111.6  
Maintenance 145.2 141.9 2.3% 149.6  
Consultancy 8.9 8.1 9.9% 8.8  

 258.8 255.9 1.1% 270.0  

     
Host Connectivity     
Licence 89.9 94.6 (5.0%) 71.6  
Maintenance 105.4 105.8 (0.4%) 55.3  
Consultancy 2.9 4.0 (27.5%) 2.1  

 198.2 204.4 (3.0%) 129.0  

     
Identity, Access & Security     
Licence 52.4 43.1 21.6% 20.5  
Maintenance 142.2 147.0 (3.3%) 65.9  
Consultancy 22.1 27.6 (19.9%) 13.7  

 216.7 217.7 (0.5%) 100.1  

     
Development & IT Operations Management 
Tools 

  
  

Licence 33.9 41.8 (18.9%) 27.8  
Maintenance 121.3 136.7 (11.3%) 62.9  
Consultancy 2.2 2.8 (21.4%) 3.6  

 157.4 181.3 (13.2%) 94.3  

     
Collaboration & Networking     
Licence 23.9 34.9 (31.5%) 29.5  
Maintenance 130.4 154.9 (15.8%) 106.9  
Consultancy 5.8 6.9 (15.9%) 3.6  

 160.1 196.7 (18.6%) 140.0  

     
Micro Focus Product Portfolio     
Licence 304.8 320.3 (4.8%) 261.0   
Maintenance 644.5 686.3 (6.1%) 440.6  
Consultancy 41.9 49.4 (15.2%) 31.8  

 991.2 1,056.0 (6.1%) 733.4   
1 unaudited 

 
As anticipated Licence revenue declined by 4.8% on a pro-forma CCY basis compared with the year to 30 April 2015. There was a 
strong Licence revenue performance in Identity, Access & Security offset by declines in all the other portfolios. Maintenance revenues 
declined by 6.1% on a pro-forma CCY basis. This was primarily in Development & ITOM Tools and Collaboration & Networking which 
is in line with prior year trends. The fair value deferred revenue haircut reduced maintenance by $10.2m (2015: $11.9m).  Excluding 
this, underlying maintenance revenues fell by 6.2%.  
 
Consultancy revenues declined by 15.2% on a pro-forma CCY basis as we implemented the established Micro Focus policy of focusing 
only on consulting business that supports our licence business. 
 
As previously mentioned there were significant changes to the organization on the Micro Focus portfolio at the beginning of the year 
and these can be seen to impact the performance in the year. We changed the sales compensation plan of the former TAG organization 
away from bookings as the primary target towards revenue and introduced quarterly targets compared to the former TAG approach of 
annual targets.  
 
CDMS revenues were $258.8m; a growth of 1.1% on a pro-forma CCY basis compared with the year to 30 April 2015. The reduction 

in Licence revenues was 1.1% ($1.2m) offset by a growth in Maintenance revenues of 2.3% ($3.3m) and Consulting revenue growth 
of 9.9% ($0.8m). Visual COBOL revenues continued to grow strongly.  
 
 
 
 
 
Host Connectivity revenues declined by 3.0% in the year on a pro-forma CCY basis. Licence revenues declined by 5.0% ($4.7m). 

The split of Licence revenue between the first half and second half of last year in the pro-forma CCY numbers was 28.3% and 71.7% 
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respectively whereas the performance this year was 53.9% in the first half and 46.1% in the second half and can mostly be explained 
by the change in compensation structure which lead to a more balanced half-on-half performance in the current year. This also reflects 
the generally shorter sales cycle in this portfolio. Maintenance revenues declined by 0.4% ($0.4m) and there was a decline in Consulting 
revenues of 27.5% ($1.1m). 

 
Identity, Access & Security (“IAS”) revenues declined by 0.5% ($1.0m). Licence revenue grew by 21.6% on CCY basis partly due to 

some significant changes in the approach to the product portfolio and the successful closure of some key transactions. There is also a 
longer sales cycle on these transactions. We acquired Authasas, a Dutch company, in the period for $10.0m. Authasas provides Multi 
Factor Authentication for the security market and TAG had previously embedded the Authasas offering in their products on an Original 
Equipment Manufacturer (“OEM”) basis. Micro Focus has a preference for owning its Intellectual Property wherever possible and when 
we had the opportunity to acquire the Authasas technology we did so. We believe that IAS has the potential for further growth as the 
market it operates in continues to grow. We will continue to drive for consistent and sustainable growth in this area but expect that this 
will take time to be delivered. Maintenance declined by 3.3% ($4.8m) because of a few contract cancellations that were known about 
when TAG was acquired and Consulting revenues declined by 19.9% ($5.5m) due to proactive change in direction outlined previously.  
 
Development & IT Operations Management Tools revenues were $157.4m; a 13.2% ($23.9m) decline on pro-forma CCY basis. 

$15.4m of the decline was in Maintenance revenues which declined by 11.3% is in line with management expectations. Licence 
revenues declined in the period by $7.9m partly due to lower sales of our App Manager products which had some large licence sales 
in the prior year.  
 
Collaboration & Networking revenues were $160.1m; a 18.6% ($36.6m) decline on pro-forma CCY basis. Maintenance declined by 

15.8% ($24.5m) in the period in line with management expectations and consistent with the prior period trend. 
 

Regional revenue performance 

 

Year 
ended 

30 April  2016 
Actual 

  
$m 

Year  
ended  

30 April  2015 
Pro-forma CCY1 

  
$m 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2015  
Pro-forma CCY  

 Decline 
% 

Year 
ended 

30 April 2015 
Actual 

 
 $m 

North America 525.2    561.4 (6.4%) 367.3  

International 377.0 395.1 (4.6%)  289.8  

Asia Pacific & Japan 89.0 99.5 (10.6%) 76.3  

Total  991.2 1,056.0 (6.1%) 733.4 
1 unaudited 

 

Progress in North America was encouraging with execution levels improving through the strengthening of leadership talent and 
associated improvements in execution and discipline. Host Connectivity delivered a strong performance throughout the year and a 
much more balanced performance in terms of H1 and H2 phasing. IAS was challenged overall but delivered significant new customer 
wins and much improved alignment and engagement with partner channels. Development & ITOM suffered from significant levels of 
attrition that took time to stabilize and begin to correct. Collaboration and Networking was down consistent with prior performance and 
trends. CDMS execution improved throughout the year to deliver an acceptable performance overall with Mainframe Solutions delivering 
exciting new customer wins and improving pipeline.   
 
International region (EMEA and LATAM) had a challenging year. EMEA took a significant time to stabilize as the restructuring actions 
worked through local legislative and consultation requirements. This was compounded by attrition in the key market of Germany and 
some portfolios leading to increased levels of disruption overall. Despite this, IAS delivered a strong performance and there were 
notable wins in Development & ITOM and CDMS. LATAM was impacted by the economic situation in Brazil and in the rest of LATAM 
we moved to a distribution led model rather than direct sales resulting in an additional level of transition and disruption to be managed. 
Execution levels across International improved throughout the year.   
 
Asia Pacific & Japan was mixed. Strength in Japan broadly across the board was offset by weakness in Asia. In Australia it was 
necessary to rebuild the business to ensure that the correct teams were in place to execute consistently the Micro Focus approach to 
and improve the overall capabilities locally. There were some excellent wins in Mainframe Solutions and IAS that demonstrate what 
can be delivered when skill and execution levels are maintained. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Adjusted operating profit and Underlying Adjusted EBITDA 

The table below shows the Adjusted Operating Profit for the portfolio together with a comparison to the pro-forma CCY figures for 
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FY15: 
 Year  

ended  
30 April 2016 

Actual 
$m 

Year 
ended 

30 April 2015 
Pro-forma CCY 1 

$m  

Segment revenue 991.2 1,056.0 
   
Directly managed costs (566.4) (663.4) 
Allocation of centrally managed costs to SUSE 28.9 32.1 

Total Adjusted Operating costs (537.5) (631.3) 

   

Adjusted Operating Profit 453.7 424.7 

Margin 45.8% 40.2% 
1 unaudited 

 
The directly managed costs are those costs specifically managed by the CEOs of the Micro Focus Product Portfolio and SUSE Product 
Portfolio. All the Group central support costs are managed by the Micro Focus portfolio group and the allocation of these costs to SUSE 
is based on an appropriate methodology. 
 
The adjusted operating profit was $453.7m, delivering a margin of 45.8% which compares with the margin in the pro-forma CCY 
numbers for FY15 of 40.2%. The increase in margin arises because of the cost savings actions that were taken at the end of FY15 
when we integrated the original Micro Focus business with TAG. These savings were mostly in staff and property costs.  
 
The table below shows the reconciliation between Adjusted Operating Profit and Underlying Adjusted EBITDA with a comparative of 
the Pro-forma CCY figures for FY15: 

 Year 
ended 

30 April 2016 
Actual 

$m 

Year 
ended 

30 April 2015 
Pro-forma CCY 1 

$m  

Adjusted Operating Profit 453.7 424.7 
   
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9.7 11.4 
Amortization of software intangibles 1.7 2.1 

Adjusted EBITDA 465.1 438.2 
   
Foreign exchange credit (2.6) (11.7) 
Net capitalization of development costs (11.4) 0.1 

Underlying Adjusted EBITDA 451.1 426.6 
1 unaudited 

 
The Underlying Adjusted EBITDA improved by $24.5m in the year on a pro-forma CCY basis primarily due to cost saving actions taken 
at the end of FY15. 
 
Outlook 

We have achieved a great deal over the last 12 months and enter the new financial year with stronger foundations than a year ago 
when the integration and change programme was just commencing. We continue to focus on improving the way in which we operate 
to maximise the efficiency of the organization.  
 
The Group has undergone huge change in FY16 but the one constant has been clarity of strategy and the associated focus on aligning 
operational execution to the delivery of that strategy. Looking forward to FY17 this focus will continue with our key priorities being:  

 Delivery of our financial plan; 

 The work to standardise systems and simplify the underlying operations of the business; 

 Accelerating progress on improving the effectiveness of our go to market teams; and 

 Continuing to operationalize the FOUR-BOX MODEL (New Models, Growth Drivers, Optimize and Core) to better align 
resources to optimize the performance of each sub-portfolio. 

 
 
 
 
 

Stephen Murdoch 
Chief Executive Officer 
Micro Focus 

13 July 2016
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CEO Review – SUSE Product Portfolio 
 
Introduction 

The SUSE product portfolio represented 20.4% of the total Group revenue in FY16 (2015: pro-forma CCY revenue 16.9%). Following 
the acquisition of TAG by Micro Focus the SUSE product portfolio was given a mandate to deliver “accelerated, sustainable and 
profitable revenue growth” and was provided with the support and initial investments to support this vision. FY16 was a successful year 
for SUSE with growth in revenue, ACV, TCV and Adjusted Operating Profit.  
 
To create additional capacity to grow we expanded the SUSE headcount across different business functions and geographies and 
aligned the critical supporting organizations of customer care, renewals and sales operations much more tightly with the SUSE 
business. This will continue in FY17 as SUSE assumes the execution responsibility for sales and marketing in APAC and for the SUSE 
channel. In FY16 we broadened and deepened our Alliance, OEM, Business Partner and cloud service provider relationships and see 
ongoing strong contribution from these routes to market to our overall success. 
 
We also extended SUSE’s presence and contribution in key Open Source projects and relevant industry groups both in support of 
strengthening our contribution to Open Source innovation and development efforts as well as in support of our partner and enterprise 
customer relationships.  

 
SUSE – Key Financial Metrics 

SUSE provides technical support together with rights to updates, patches and security fixes for its Open Source solutions on a 
subscription basis with revenues being recognised rateably over the period of the contract. The key metrics are Revenue, TCV and 
ACV of the TCV. The ACV represents the value of the first 12 months of each contract reported as TCV.  
 
Revenue 

The table below provides a breakdown of the revenue for the year and a comparison to FY15 on a pro-forma CCY basis and as reported. 
 

SUSE Product Portfolio 

 

Year 
ended 

30 April 2016 
Actual 

 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2015 
Pro-forma CCY1 

 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2016  
Pro-forma CCY 

Growth 

Year  
ended 

30 April 2015 
Actual 

 
 $m $m % $m 

Subscription 248.9 210.5 18.2% 98.2  
Consultancy 4.9 4.2 16.7% 2.9   

 253.8 214.7 18.2% 101.1  
1 unaudited 

 
The SUSE product portfolio revenue increased by 18.2% to $253.8m compared with the pro-forma CCY revenues for FY15 of $214.7m, 
with the Subscription revenue increasing by 18.2% to $248.9m (2015: pro-forma CCY $210.5m). The Subscription revenue is net of 
the fair value deferred revenue haircut of $6.4m (2015: $5.1m). Prior to this adjustment Subscription revenue grew by 18.4%.  

 
Regional Revenue Performance  

 

Year 
ended 

30 April 2016 
Actual 

 
  

$m 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2015 
Pro-forma CCY 1  

 
 

$m 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2015  
Pro-forma  

CCY 
(Decline)/Growth 

% 

North America 108.6 87.4 24.3% 

International 115.6 98.4 17.5% 

Asia Pacific & Japan 29.6 28.9 2.4% 

Total 253.8 214.7 18.2% 
1 unaudited 

 

North America and International have had successful years in terms of subscription revenue, growing at 24.3% and 17.5% respectively 
compared with the pro-forma CCY revenues for FY15.  
 
Asia Pacific & Japan, whilst showing a small increase of 2.4% compared with the pro-forma CCY revenues for FY15, has a solid 
foundation to grow from in the coming years.  SUSE, now with a dedicated GTM sales organization in this region, is already starting to 
show promise evidenced by strong TCV and ACV performance as referenced below. 

 
 
 
 
 
TCV and ACV  
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TCV represents the gross billings for the year of $301.3m, an increase of 14.3% from the pro-forma CCY for FY15.  The weighted 
average contract duration decreased from 33 months to 28 months. This has resulted in the ‘in fiscal year yield’ from TCV to revenue 
to increase from 32% in FY15 to 34% in FY16. ‘In fiscal year yield’ represents the proportion of TCV generated in the fiscal year that 
can be recognized as SFR in the same fiscal year.  As the weighted average contract duration reduces, we would expect to get a higher 
‘in fiscal year yield’. Net new subscription TCV increased by 9.6% year-on-year and renewal subscriptions TCV grew by 22.7% year-
on-year. Net new subscription contracts are derived from sale of subscriptions to new logo customers and existing customers expanding 
footprint of existing product portfolio or subscribing to new product solutions.   
 
ACV measures the first 12 months duration equivalent of TCV. ACV grew to $174.8m, an increase of 17.9% from the pro-forma CCY 
for FY15.  ACV removes the impact of multi-year TCV and is a cleaner KPI on the performance of the business. Where subscription 
term is less than 12 months, all of the subscription TCV billing is included in the ACV measure. 

 
Regional TCV performance 

 

Year 
ended 

30 April 2016 
Actual 

 
 

$m 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2015 
Pro-forma 

CCY1 

 
$m 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2015  
Pro-forma  

CCY 
(Decline)/Growth 

% 

North America 137.3    103.3 32.9% 

International 128.9 132.5 (2.7%) 

Asia Pacific & Japan 35.1 27.7 26.7% 

Total  301.3 263.5 14.3% 
1 unaudited 

 
Regional ACV performance 

 

Year 
ended 

30 April 2016 
Actual 

 
 

$m 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2015 
Pro-forma 

CCY1 

  
$m 

Year  
ended  

30 April 2015  
Pro-forma  

CCY  
Growth 

% 

North America 81.7    62.9 29.9% 

International 67.8 63.7 6.4% 

Asia Pacific & Japan 25.3 21.6 17.1% 

Total  174.8 148.2 17.9% 
1 unaudited 

 
North America had very strong performance in TCV and ACV for the year, growing by 32.9% and 29.9% respectively.   
 
International, whilst showing a 2.7% decline in TCV, has shown 6.4% growth in ACV and as referenced above has grown revenues by 
19.4% compared with the pro-forma CCY FY15 revenues. International TCV and ACV performance was lower as a strong performance 
in the prior year gave a tough compare.  
 
Asia Pacific & Japan had very strong performance in TCV and ACV, growing by 26.7% and 17.1% respectively.  We continue to have 
strong performance in China and Japan, and are also winning new accounts in some of the other key markets in the region. The region 
is also starting to get good traction by leveraging the global agreements we have in place with key independent hardware vendors and 
cloud service providers. 

 
ACV contribution by route to market 

 

Year 
 ended 

30 April 2016 
Actual 

 
 

Year 
ended 

 30 April 2015 
Pro-forma 

CCY1 
 

Year 
ended  

30 April 2016  
Pro-forma 

CCY 
Growth/(Decline) 

 $m $m % 

Direct 37.2 32.8 13.4% 

Indirect 61.8 47.1 31.2% 

Global Service Partners 63.8 54.2 17.7% 

OEM (Embedded Systems) 12.0 14.1 (14.9%) 

Total  174.8 148.2 17.9% 
1 unaudited 

Direct represents customers that have a master licence agreement with SUSE and subscribe directly with SUSE or via authorized 
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fulfillment partners. 
 
Indirect represents customers that subscribe via the SUSE Value Added Reseller network and predominantly through a two tier 

distribution model. 
 
Global Service Partners represents primarily Independent Hardware Vendors who sell SUSE subscriptions alongside the sale of their 

respective hardware and subscriptions generated from cloud service providers. 
 
OEM (Embedded Systems) represents entities that embed SUSE subscriptions within the sale of their respective specialized appliance 

offerings. 
 
We continue to see significant growth in Direct, Indirect and Global Service Partners routes to market, growing by 13.4%, 31.2% and 
17.7% respectively.   
 
We also see a trend of customers, who purchased subscriptions direct, subsequently subscribing through Global Service Partners. This 
partially contributes to ACV from Global Service Partners growing more significantly relative to Direct and Indirect. We continue to see 
strength in the Value Added Reseller network, where we have seen significant growth in ACV during the fiscal year. OEM (Embedded 
Systems) transactions tend to be large, custom, specialized and binary in nature, and thus year on year fluctuations in ACV generated 
are to be expected. 
 
The table below shows the percentage share of ACV by the different routes to market in FY16 compared to FY15. 
 

 Year  
ended 

30 April 2016 

Year  
ended 

30 April 20151 

GSP 37% 37% 
Indirect (Value Added Reseller) 35% 32% 
Direct 21% 22% 
OEM 7% 9% 

 100% 100% 
1 unaudited 
 

In aggregate the ACV mix by route to market remains stable in FY16 compared to FY15 as we saw homogenous contribution to SUSE’s 
growth from the various routes to market. 
 
SUSE Adjusted Operating Profit and Adjusted EBITDA 

The table below shows the Adjusted Operating Profit for the SUSE product portfolio and compares it against the pro-forma CCY 
numbers for FY15: 

 
 Year 

ended 
30 April 2016 

Actual 
$m 

Year 
ended 

30 April 2015 
Pro-forma CCY 1 

$m  

Revenue 253.8 214.7 
   
Directly managed costs (145.1) (123.9) 
Allocation of centrally managed costs from Micro Focus (28.9) (32.1) 

Total Adjusted Operating costs (174.0) (156.0) 

   

Adjusted Operating Profit 79.8 58.7 

Margin 31.4% 27.3% 
1 unaudited 

 
SUSE Adjusted Operating Profit for the year was $79.8m at a profit margin of 31.4%.  Compared to the pro-forma CCY FY15, this is 
an increase of $21.1m (35.9%) and a profit margin improvement of 4.1%. We have seen a significant increase in directly managed 
costs in SUSE that is consistent with the investment being made to deliver the SUSE growth charter.  We are also seeing the benefit 
of a reduced allocation of centrally managed costs which is being delivered from the efficiencies in the Micro Focus product portfolio. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The table below shows the reconciliation between Adjusted Operating Profit and Underlying Adjusted EBITDA for SUSE: 
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 Year 
ended 

30 April 2016 
Actual 

$m 

Year 
ended 

30 April 2015 
Pro-forma CCY 1 

$m  

Adjusted Operating Profit 79.8 58.7 
   
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1.7 2.0 
Amortization of software intangibles 0.2 0.4 

Adjusted EBITDA 81.7 61.1 
Foreign exchange credit (0.3) (0.9) 
Net capitalization of development costs - - 

Underlying Adjusted EBITDA 81.4 60.2 
1 unaudited 

 
Deferred revenue 

We continue to have year on year steady growth in the deferred revenue balance. At 30 April 2016 SUSE’s total deferred revenue 
balance was $326.8m (2015: $265.0m), an increase of $61.8m year-on-year. 60.8% of this increase in deferred revenue balance is 
recognizable revenue in the next 12 months and 88.7% recognizable in 24 months. 
 
Headcount 

At the end of April 2015, direct headcount in SUSE was 522 increasing to 641 by 30 April 2016 SUSE, a net increase of 119 in the 
fiscal year. The increased investment in direct headcount is primarily in Engineering, Product Management, Sales, Marketing, Product 
Marketing and Alliances to address the opportunity we see in the market for SUSE’s existing offerings together with new opportunities 
in OpenStack IaaS, Software Defined Distributed Storage based on Ceph technology and with public cloud service providers.  
 
In addition to the direct headcount, the SUSE portfolio received in FY16 support from SUSE dedicated employees, who are 
organizationally aligned in the shared service functions of the Group. Most prominently in APJ Sales, Renewal Sales, Consulting, 
Customer Care, Sales Operations and other corporate operations functions. These add up to approximately 224 full-time equivalents 
(“FTEs”), which brings the total SUSE dedicated headcount supporting the SUSE business and customers to approximately 865 FTEs 
at the end of April 2016. 
 
Outlook “Sustainable, Profitable Revenue Growth” 

For FY17 SUSE will focus on the successful execution of SUSE’s mandate for sustainable, profitable revenue growth. The objective is 
to grow revenue ahead of growth rates for relevant markets.  

 
 
 
 
 

Nils Brauckmann 
Chief Executive Officer 
SUSE 

13 July 2016
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Micro Focus International plc 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income (audited) 

  Year ended 30 April 2016 Year ended 30 April 2015 

 

 

 

 

Note 

Before 
exceptional 

items  

$’000 

Exceptional 
items 

$’000 

 

Total 

$’000 

Before 
exceptional 

items 

$’000 

Exceptional 
items 

$’000 

 

Total 

$’000 

Revenue 5,6 1,245,049 - 1,245,049 834,539 - 834,539 

Cost of sales  (133,260) (2,172) (135,432) (86,861) (4,629) (91,490) 

Gross profit  1,111,789 (2,172) 1,109,617 747,678 (4,629) 743,049 

Selling and distribution costs  (411,961) (4,372) (416,333) (270,864) (19,611) (290,475) 

Research and development expenses  (258,130) (1,258) (259,388) (159,280) (3,069) (162,349) 

Administrative expenses  (118,911) (20,051) (138,962) (73,620) (69,369) (142,989) 

Operating profit  322,787 (27,853) 294,934 243,914 (96,678) 147,236 

Analyzed as:        

Adjusted Operating Profit  533,514 - 533,514 347,773 - 347,773 

Share based compensation  (28,793) - (28,793) (15,561) - (15,561) 

Amortization of purchased intangibles 14 (181,934) - (181,934) (88,298) - (88,298) 

Exceptional items 7 - (27,853) (27,853) - (96,678) (96,678) 

Operating profit  5 322,787 (27,853) 294,934 243,914 (96,678) 147,236 

Share of results of associates  (2,190) - (2,190) (788) - (788) 

        

Finance costs  (98,357) - (98,357) (53,847) (2,384) (56,231) 

Finance income  1,009 - 1,009 1,210 - 1,210 

Net finance costs  (97,348) - (97,348) (52,637) (2,384) (55,021) 

        

Profit before tax  223,249 (27,853) 195,396 190,489 (99,062) 91,427 

Taxation 12 (39,259) 6,835 (32,424) (15,729) 25,753 10,024 

Profit for the year  183,990 (21,018) 162,972 174,760 (73,309) 101,451 

Attributable to:        

Equity shareholders of the parent  183,912 (21,018) 162,894 175,062 (73,309) 101,753 

Non-controlling interests  78 - 78 (302) - (302) 

Profit for the year  183,990 (21,018) 162,972 174,760 (73,309) 101,451 

Other comprehensive income:        

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss        

Actuarial gain/(loss) on pension liabilities schemes 21 2,697 - 2,697 (4,196) - (4,196) 

Actuarial gain on non-plan pension assets 21 3,104 - 3,104 - - - 

Deferred tax movement on pensions  (1,745) - (1,745) 1,301 - 1,301 

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit 
or loss 

       

Currency translation differences  (3,458) - (3,458) (8,375) - (8,375) 

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year  598 - 598 (11,270) - (11,270) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  184,588 (21,018) 163,570 163,490 (73,309) 90,181 

Attributable to:        

Equity shareholders of the parent  184,510 (21,018) 163,492 163,792 (73,309) 90,483 

Non-controlling interests  78 - 78 (302) - (302) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  184,588 (21,018) 163,570 163,490 (73,309) 90,181 

Earnings per share expressed in cents per  

share 

    

cents 

   

cents 

- basic 11   74.50   58.54 

- diluted 11   71.61   56.71 

Earnings per share expressed in pence per share    pence   pence 

- basic 11   49.59   36.64 

- diluted 11   47.66   35.50 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this financial information.  
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Micro Focus International plc 
Consolidated statement of financial position (audited) 

 

 

Note 

2016 

$’000 

2015 

$’000 

Non-current assets    

Goodwill 13 2,436,168 2,421,745 

Other intangible assets 14 966,555 1,132,221 

Property, plant and equipment 15 40,867 42,896 

Investments in associates  12,711 14,901 

Long term pension assets 21 22,272 14,076 

Other non-current assets  4,002 3,909 

Deferred tax assets  198,757 249,886 

  3,681,332 3,879,634 

Current assets    

Inventories  93 110 

Trade and other receivables 16 268,186 218,645 

Current tax receivables  18,016 - 

Cash and cash equivalents  667,178 241,324 

Assets classified as held for sale  888 888 

  954,361 460,967 

Total assets  4,635,693 4,340,601 

    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 17 188,090 161,365 

Borrowings 18 275,256 125,733 

Provisions 19 10,545 49,334 

Current tax liabilities  22,426 67,895 

Deferred income 20 565,480 583,703 

  1,061,797 988,030 

Non-current liabilities    

Deferred income  196,483 194,863 

Borrowings 18 1,469,953 1,519,130 

Retirement benefit obligations 21 31,669 32,742 

Long-term provisions 19 14,354 17,919 

Other non-current liabilities  3,671 5,264 

Deferred tax liabilities  264,038 304,592 

  1,980,168 2,074,510 

Total liabilities  3,041,965 3,062,540 

Net assets   1,593,728 1,278,061 
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Micro Focus International plc 
Consolidated statement of financial position (audited) 

 

  

Note 

2016 

$’000 

2015 

$’000 

     

Capital and reserves     

Share capital  22 39,573 39,555 

Share premium account   190,293 16,087 

Merger reserve  23 988,104 1,168,104 

Capital redemption reserve  23 163,363 163,363 

Retained earnings/(deficit)   228,344 (96,479) 

Foreign currency translation reserve/(deficit)   (17,006) (13,548) 

Total equity attributable to owners of the parent   1,592,671 1,277,082 

Non-controlling interests   1,057 979 

Total equity   1,593,728 1,278,061 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial information. 
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Micro Focus International plc 
Consolidated statement of cash flow (audited) 

 

 Note 

2016 

$’000 

2015 

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Net profit for the period  162,972 101,451 

Adjustments for:    

Net interest  97,348 55,021 

Taxation  32,424 (10,024) 

Share of results of associates  2,190 788 

Operating profit  294,934 147,236 

Research and development tax credits  (2,041) (2,135) 

Depreciation  11,419 7,674 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  109 41 

Gain on disposal of intangible assets  - (1,603) 

Amortization of intangibles 14 203,313 109,092 

Impairment of intangibles  - 984 

Impairment of long-term assets  - 11,642 

Share-based compensation  28,793 15,561 

 Exchange movements  (2,915) (87) 

Provisions movements 19 (43,031) 46,485 

Changes in working capital:    

Inventories  28 39 

Trade and other receivables  (49,175) 40,127 

Payables and other liabilities  30,917 (108,558) 

Deferred income  (16,603) 21,657 

Pension funding in excess of charge to operating profit  (18) 586 

Cash generated from operations  455,730 288,741 

Interest paid  (91,807) (50,482) 

Tax (paid)/received  (79,282) 1,798 

Net cash generated from operating activities  284,641 240,057 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for intangible assets 14 (34,488) (21,240) 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 15 (10,281) (4,972) 

Costs associated with relisting on the LSE 26 - (723) 

Interest received  1,009 320 

Payment for acquisition of business 26 (9,960) - 

Net cash acquired with acquisitions 26 106 165,946 

Short term investments  - (2) 

Net cash (used in)/generated from in investing activities  (53,614) 139,329 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital  968 1,647 

Proceeds from share placement  225,720 - 

Costs associated with share placement  (2,979) - 

Return of Value paid to shareholders  25 - (131,565) 

Costs associated with the Return of Value 25 - (55) 

Repayment of bank borrowings 18 (157,750) (522,000) 

Repayment of bank borrowings on the acquisition of TAG 26 - (1,294,726) 

Net proceeds from bank borrowings 18 245,000 1,903,625 

Bank loan costs  (1,805) (40,174) 

Dividends paid to owners 10 (105,159) (72,707) 

Net cash generated from/(used in) in financing activities  203,995 (155,955) 

Effects of exchange rate changes  (9,168) (14,907) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  425,854 208,524 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  241,324 32,800 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  667,178 241,324 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of this financial information. 
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Micro Focus International plc 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity (audited)    

 

 

 

Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 
account 

Retained 
earnings/ 

(deficit)  

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 
(deficit) 

Capital 
redemption 

reserves  
Merger 
reserve 

(Deficit)/ 
equity  

attributable 
to the parent 

Non-
controlling 

interests 

Total 
(deficit)/ 

equity 

 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance as at 1 May 2014  37,802 14,546 (140,324) (5,173) 103,983 (27,085) (16,251) - (16,251) 

Profit/(loss) for the year  - - 101,753 - - - 101,753 (302) 101,451 

Other comprehensive expense for the 
year 

 - - (2,895) (8,375) - - (11,270) - (11,270) 

Total comprehensive 
income/(expense) 

 - - 98,858 (8,375) - - 90,483 (302) 90,181 

Non-controlling interests on 
acquisition of TAG 

 - - - - - - - 1,281 1,281 

Transactions with owners:           

Dividends 10 - - (72,707) - - - (72,707) - (72,707) 

Share options:           

Issue of share capital  106 1,541 (513) - - - 1,134 - 1,134 

Movement in relation to share options  - - 12,151 - - - 12,151 - 12,151 

Corporation tax on share options  - - 4,808 - - - 4,808 - 4,808 

Deferred tax on share options  - - 3,591 - - - 3,591 - 3,591 

Acquisitions:           

Shares issued to acquire TAG 26 13,550 - - - - 1,372,666 1,386,216 - 1,386,216 

Expenses relating to relisting on the 
LSE 

26 - - (723) - - - (723) - (723) 

Reallocation of merger reserve 23 - - 130,000 - - (130,000) - - - 

Share reorganization and buy-
backs: 

          

Return of Value – share consolidation 25 (37,866) - - - 11,903 - (25,963) - (25,963) 

Issue and redemption of B shares 25 - - - - 47,477 (47,477) - - - 

Return of Value – new share issues 25 25,963 - - - - - 25,963 - 25,963 

Return of Value to shareholders 25 - - (131,565) - - - (131,565) - (131,565) 

Expenses relating to Return of Value 25 - - (55) - - - (55) - (55) 

Total movements for the year  1,753 1,541 43,845 (8,375) 59,380 1,195,189 1,293,333 979 1,294,312 

Balance as at 30 April 2015  39,555 16,087 (96,479) (13,548) 163,363 1,168,104 1,277,082 979 1,278,061 

Profit for the year  - - 162,894 - - - 162,894 78 162,972 

Other comprehensive 
income/(expense) for the year  

 - - 4,056 (3,458) - - 598 - 598 

Total comprehensive 
income/(expense) 

 - - 166,950 (3,458) - - 163,492 78 163,570 

Transactions with owners:           

Dividends 10 - - (105,159) - - - (105,159) - (105,159) 

Share options:           

Issue of share capital – share options  18 950 (70) - - - 898 - 898 

Movement in relation to share options  - - 23,582 - - - 23,582 - 23,582 

Corporation tax on share options  - - 1,545 - - - 1,545 - 1,545 

Deferred tax on share options  - - 8,490 - - - 8,490 - 8,490 

Share placement:           

Issue of share capital – share 
placement 

22 - 176,235 49,485 - - - 225,720 - 225,720 

Share placement issue costs 22 - (2,979) - - - - (2,979) - (2,979) 

Reallocation of merger reserve 23 - - 180,000 - - (180,000) - - - 

Total movements for the year  18 174,206 324,823 (3,458) - (180,000) 315,589 78 315,667 

Balance as at 30 April 2016  39,573 190,293 228,344 (17,006) 163,363 988,104 1,592,671 1,057 1,593,728 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial information.
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Micro Focus International plc 
 

Notes to the financial statements (audited) 
 

1. General  

Micro Focus International plc (“the Company”) is a public limited Company incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The address of its 
registered office is, The Lawn, 22-30 Old Bath Road, Newbury, RG14 1QN, UK. Micro Focus International plc and its subsidiaries 
(together “the Group”) provide innovative software to clients around the world enabling them to dramatically improve the business 
value of their enterprise applications. The Group has a presence in 39 countries worldwide and employs approximately 4,200 people. 
Following the completion of the acquisition of Serena on 2 May 2016 headcount had increased to approximately 4,600. 

The Company is listed on the London Stock Exchange. 

The statutory accounts of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2016 which include the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements for that year were audited at the date of this announcement. These financial results do not comprise statutory accounts  
within the meaning of Section 435 of the Companies Act 2006. Statutory accounts for the year ended 30 April 2015 were approved 
by the board of directors on 7 July 2015 and delivered to the Registrar of Companies. The report of the auditors on those accounts 
was unqualified and did not contain any statement under Section 498 of the Companies Act 2006. 

This preliminary announcement was approved by the board of directors on 13 July 2016. 
 

2. Basis of preparation 

This audited preliminary consolidated financial information for the year ended 30 April 2016, has been prepared in accordance  
with the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the UK Financial Conduct Authority and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(‘IFRSs’) as endorsed by the European Union and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 that remain applicable to companies 
reporting under IFRS. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention. 
 
3. Accounting policies 

Other than as described below, the accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the Annual Report and Accounts for 
the year ended 30 April 2015, as described in those financial statements.  

 
(a)  The following standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards are now effective and have been adopted by 

the Group: 
 
- Annual Improvements 2013 includes amendments to IFRS 1 ‘First Time Adoption’, IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’, 

IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ and IAS 40 ‘Investment Property’ applies for periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2014. 

 
- Amendment to IAS 19 regarding defined benefit plans applies for periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. These 

narrow scope amendments apply to contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit plans. 
 
- Annual Improvements 2012 includes amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’, IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’, 

IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’, IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’, IAS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’, IAS 38 
‘Intangible Assets’, IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ 
and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement’ applies for periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2014. 

 
(b)  The following standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards are not yet ef fective and have not been adopted 

early by the Group: 
 
- Amendment to IAS 16, 'Property, plant and equipment' and IAS 38,'Intangible assets', on depreciation and amortization 

applies for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 subject to EU endorsement. In this amendment the IASB has 
clarified that the use of revenue based methods to calculate the depreciation of an asset is not appropriate because 
revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset generally reflects factors other than the consumption 
of the economic benefits embodied in the asset.  

 
- Amendments to IAS 27, ‘Separate financial statements’ on the equity method applies to periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2016. These amendments allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial statements (audited) 
 

3. Accounting policies continued 

 
- Amendments to IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’ and IAS 28, ‘Investments in associates and joint 

ventures’. These amendments address an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28 in 
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main 
consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business 
(whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves assets that 
do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. The effective date of this change is to be 
determined. 

 
- Annual Improvements 2014 includes amendments to IFRS 5, ‘Non-current Assets Held For Sale and Discontinued 

Operations’, IFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, IAS 19, ‘Employee Benefits’ and IAS 34, ‘Interim Financial 
Reporting’ applies for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

 
- Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’  as part of the IASB initiative to improve presentation and 

disclosure in financial reports, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
 

(c)    The following standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards are not yet effective, have not yet been 
endorsed by the EU and have not been adopted early by the Group: 

  
- Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows on disclosure initiative 1988 are effective on periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2017, subject to EU endorsement. This amendment introduces an additional disclosure that will enable 
users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities and is part of the IASB’s 
Disclosure Initiative, which continues to explore how financial statement disclosure can be improved. 

 
- Amendments to IAS 12,'Income taxes' on Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses are effective on 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, subject to EU endorsement. These amendments relate to the recognition 
of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses clarify how to account for deferred tax assets related to debt instruments 
measured at fair value. 

 
- IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’. This standard replaces the guidance in IAS 39 and applies to periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2018, subject to EU endorsement. It includes requirements on the classification and measurement of 
financial assets and liabilities; it also includes an expected credit losses model that replaces the current incurred loss 
impairment model. 

 
- IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ addresses the definition of a lease, recognition and measurement of leases and establishes 

principles for reporting useful information to users of financial statements about the leasing activities of both lessees 
and lessors. A key change arising from IFRS 16 is that most operating leases will be accounted for on balance sheet 
for lessees. The standard replaces IAS 17 ‘Leases', and related interpretations. The standard is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and earlier application is permitted subject to EU endorsement and the 
entity adopting IFRS 15 'Revenue from contracts with customers' at the same time. The Group is currently assessing 
the impact of IFRS 16. 

 
- IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ establishes the principles that an entity shall apply to report useful 

information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash 
flows arising from a contract with a customer.  Application of the standard is mandatory for annual reporting periods 
starting from 1 January 2018 onwards (pending EU endorsement).  Earlier application is permitted. The standard 
replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and IAS 11 ‘Construction contracts’ and related interpretations.  The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of IFRS 15 but it is too early to determine how significant the effect on reported results and 
financial position will be. 

 

Apart from IFRS 15 and FRS 16, where it is too early to determine how significant the effect on reported results and financial 
position will be, the directors anticipate that the future introduction of those standards, amendments and interpretations listed 
above will not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.  
 
4.  Functional currency 

The presentation currency of the Group is US dollars. Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entit ies are 
measured in the functional currency of each entity. The Group uses the local currency as the functional currency, except for two 
entities based in Ireland (Novell Ireland Software Limited and Novell Ireland Real Estate Limited), where the functional currency is 
the US dollar. 
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Notes to the financial statements (audited) 
 
5.  Segmental reporting  

In accordance with IFRS 8, “Operating Segments”, the Group has derived the information for its operating segments using the 
information used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“the Executive Committee”). Following the Company reorganization on 1 
May 2015, the Group has changed its operating segments to be: Micro Focus and SUSE as set out in the Executive Chairman’s 
Statement. Operating segments are consistent with those used in internal management reporting and the profit measure used by the 
Executive Committee is the Adjusted Operating Profit for the Group as a whole as set out in note 8.  

Operating segments for the year ended 30 April 2016: 

 

 Note Micro Focus SUSE Total 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Segment revenue  991,233 253,816 1,245,049 

Directly managed costs  (566,406) (145,129) (711,535) 

Allocation of centrally managed costs  28,883 (28,883) - 

Total segment costs  (537,523) (174,012) (711,535) 

Adjusted Operating Profit  8 453,710 79,804 533,514 

Exceptional items 7   (27,853) 

Share based compensation charge    (28,793) 

Amortization of purchased intangibles    (181,934) 

Operating profit    294,934 

Share of results of associates    (2,190) 

Net finance costs    (97,348) 

Profit before tax    195,396 

     

Total assets    4,635,693 

Total liabilities    3,041,965 

 

Operating segments for the year ended 30 April 2015, restated for the new operating segments: 

 

 Note Micro Focus SUSE Total 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Segment revenue  733,435 101,104 834,539 

Directly managed costs  (427,264) (59,502) (486,766) 

Allocation of centrally managed costs  15,532 (15,532) - 

Total segment costs  (411,732) (75,034) (486,766) 

Adjusted Operating Profit  8 321,703 26,070 347,773 

Exceptional items 7   (96,678) 

Share based compensation charge    (15,561) 

Amortization of purchased intangibles    (88,298) 

Operating profit    147,236 

Share of results of associates    (788) 

Net finance costs    (55,021) 

Profit before tax    91,427 

     

Total assets    4,340,601 

Total liabilities    3,062,540 

 
The operating segment split of depreciation on property, plant and equipment and the amorti zation of purchased software 
intangibles is reported in note 8. 
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Notes to the financial statements (audited) 
 
6. Analysis of revenue by product 

Set out below is an analysis of revenue recognized between the principal product portfolios for the year ended 30 April 2016. 
 

 Micro Focus 
   

 

 CDMS 
Host 

Connectivity 

Identity, 
Access & 
Security 

Development & 
IT Operations 
Management 

Tools 
Collaboration 
& Networking 

 

 

Total Micro 
Focus 

  

 

 

SUSE 

 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000  $’000 

Licence 104,737 89,862 52,360 33,918 23,943 304,820  -  304,820 

Maintenance` 145,180 105,381 142,209 121,310 130,371 644,451  -  644,451 

Subscription - - - - - -  248,903  248,903 

Consulting 8,911 2,920 22,083 2,219 5,829 41,962  4,913  46,875 

Total 258,828 198,163 216,652 157,447 160,143 991,233  253,816  1,245,049 

 
Set out below is an analysis of revenue recognized between the principal product portfolios for the year ended 30 April 2015. 

 

 Micro Focus 
   

 

 CDMS 
Host 

Connectivity 

Identity, 
Access & 
Security  

Development & 
IT Operations 
Management 

Tools 
Collaboration 
& Networking 

 

 

Total Micro 
Focus 

  

 

 

SUSE 

 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000  $’000 

Licence 111,594 71,533 20,536 27,849 29,492 261,004  -  261,004 

Maintenance` 149,680 55,270 65,882 62,925 106,925 440,682  -  440,682 

Subscription - - - - - -  98,178  98,178 

Consulting 8,752 2,152 13,731 3,566 3,548 31,749  2,926  34,675 

Total 270,026 128,955 100,149 94,340 139,965 733,435  101,104  834,539 

 
7. Exceptional items 

The exceptional costs of $27.9m (2015: $99.1m) shown in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income relate to costs 
incurred as part of the integration of TAG, which was an acquisition completed on 20 November 2014, the acquisition of Authasas BV 
on 17 July 2015 (note 26) and pre-acquisition costs relating to Serena (note 27). The total cash outflow of exceptional items during 
the year was $19.7m (2015: $34.6m). 

 
 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Reported within Operating profit:   
Integration costs 23,634 7,585 
Acquisition costs 531 26,860 
Pre-acquisition costs 5,569 - 
Property costs 5,964 18,200 
Severance costs (4,845) 30,734 
Royalty provision release (3,000) - 
Impairment of intangible assets (note 14) - 11,642 
Impairment of prepayments - 1,657 

 27,853 96,678 
Reported within finance costs:   
Accelerated amortization of facility fees  - 2,384 

 - 2,384 

 27,853 99,062 

 
Integration costs of $23.6m (2015: $7.6m) arose from the work done in bringing together the Base Micro Focus and TAG organizations 
into one organization. This includes, amongst other activities; email migration, system integration and legal entity reorganization.  
 
The acquisition costs of $0.5m are external costs in evaluating and completing the acquisition of Authasas BV in July 2015 (2015: 
acquisition of TAG $26.9m). The costs mostly relate to due diligence work, legal work on the acquisition agreements and professional 
advisors on the transaction.  
 
The pre-acquisition costs of $5.6m (2015: $nil) relate to evaluating the acquisition of Serena which was completed on the 2 May 2016 
(note 27). The costs mostly relate to due diligence work, legal work on the acquisition agreements and professional advisors on the 
transaction.  
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Notes to the financial statements (audited) 
 
7. Exceptional items continued 

 
The property costs of $6.0m (2015: $18.2m) relate to the cost of exiting entire buildings or floors of buildings which the Group are 
leasing following the integration of the TAG business. The majority of the costs relate to TAG properties in North America. 
 
Severance costs releases of $4.8m (2015: $30.7m charge) relate to the reassessment of provisions made for integrating the TAG 
business in the year ended 30 April 2015, including the redeployment of staff previously notified of redundancy.  
 
Royalty provision releases of $3.0m (2015: $nil) relate to provisions no longer required as a result of new contracts being concluded 
with a third party. 
 
The one-off impairment of intangible assets of $11.6m and prepayments of $1.7m in the year ended 30 April 2015 related mostly to 
the write off of TAG computer systems and applications that had no future value for the Group.  
 
The one-off accelerated amortization of facility fees of $2.4m in the year ended 30 April 2015 related to costs that were expensed 
early as a result of taking on new borrowings to finance the acquisition of TAG. 
 

The estimated total tax effect of exceptional items is a credit to the income statement of $6.8m (2015: $25.8m). 
 
8. Reconciliation of operating profit to EBITDA 

 Note 2016 2015 
  $’000 $’000 

Operating profit 5 294,934 147,236 
Exceptional items 7 27,853 96,678 
Share-based compensation charge  28,793 15,561 
Amortization of purchased intangibles 14 181,934 88,298 

Adjusted Operating Profit  533,514 347,773 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15 11,419 7,674 
Amortization of purchased software intangibles 14 1,864 2,189 

Adjusted EBITDA  546,797 357,636 
Amortization and impairment of development costs 14 19,515 19,589 

Facility EBITDA  566,312 377,225 

    
Operating profit 5 294,934 147,236 
Amortization of intangible assets 14 203,313 110,076 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15 11,419 7,674 

EBITDA  509,666 264,986 
Amortization and impairment of development costs 14 (19,515) (19,589) 
Share-based compensation charge  28,793 15,561 
Exceptional items 7 27,853 96,678 

Adjusted EBITDA  546,797 357,636 
Foreign exchange credit  (2,915) (9,445) 
Net (capitalization)/amortization of internal development costs* 14 (11,362) 99 

Underlying Adjusted EBITDA  532,520 348,290 

 

*Net capitalization of internal development costs of $11.4m (2015: $0.1m amortization) is calculated as additions to intangible 
development costs of $31.4m (2015: $19.5m), excluding external consultants development costs of $0.5m (2015: $nil) less 
amortization and impairment of the development costs intangibles in the year of $19.5m (2015: $19.6m). 
 
The table below provides the operating segments split for the year ended 30 April 2016 and 30 April 2015: 

 
 2016  2015 

 Micro 
Focus 

SUSE Total  Micro 
Focus 

SUSE Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Adjusted Operating Profit  453,710 79,804 533,514  321,703 26,070 347,773 
Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment 

 
9,736 

 
1,683 

 
11,419 

  
6,886 

 
788 

 
7,674 

Amortization of purchased software 
intangibles 

1,679 185 1,864  1,834 355 2,189 

Adjusted EBITDA 465,125 81,672 546,797  330,423 27,213 357,636 
Foreign exchange credit (2,584) (331) (2,915)  (9,358) (87) (9,445) 
Net (capitalization)/amortization of 
development costs 

 
(11,362) 

 
- 

 
(11,362) 

  
99 

 
- 

 
99 

Underlying Adjusted EBITDA 451,179 81,341 532,520  321,164 27,126 348,290 
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8. Reconciliation of operating profit to EBITDA continued  

 
The directors use EBITDA, EBITDA before exceptional items and share based compensation charge but after amortization and 
impairment of development costs (“Adjusted EBITDA”) and Adjusted EBITDA before foreign exchange gains and losses and net 
amortization/capitalization of internal development costs (“Underlying Adjusted EBITDA”) as key performance measures of the 
business.  

 
The use of these alternative performance measures are consistent with those used by sell-side equity analysts who write research 
on the Group and how institutional investors consider the performance of the Group. 
 
Facility EBITDA was the measure used under the Group’s $420m Revolving Credit Facility to determine the Net Debt to Facility 
EBITDA covenant calculation.  Whilst the $420m facility was repaid and cancelled as part of the refinancing on the acquisition of 
TAG, for consistency the directors will continue to use the metric Net Debt to Facility EBITDA. These measures are not defined in 
IFRS and thus may not be comparable to similarly titled measures by other companies.  
 
9. Share-based payments 

The share-based compensation charge for the year ended 30 April 2016 was $28.8m (2015: $15.6m). The increase in the 
period is as a result of the Additional Share Grants awarded to Senior Managers on the acquisition of TAG and the additional 
employer taxes that would be payable as a result of the increase in the share price.  

 
10. Dividends 
 

 2016 2015 
Equity – ordinary $’000 $’000 

2015 final paid 33.00 cents (2014: 30.00 cents) per ordinary share 70,015 40,215 
2016 interim paid 16.94 cents (2015: 15.40 cents) per ordinary share 35,144 32,492 

Total 105,159 72,707 

 
The directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2016 of 49.74 cents per share which will utilize 
approximately $113,744,000 of total equity. The directors have concluded that the Company has sufficient distributable reserves to 
pay the dividend. It has not been included as a liability in these financial statements as it has not yet been approved by shareholders. 
 
11.  Earnings per share 

The calculation of the basic earnings per share has been based on the earnings attributable to owners of the parent and the weighted 
average number of shares for each year. 

 
 Year ended 30 April 2016 Year ended 30 April 2015 
 Total 

earnings 
 

Weighted 
average 
number 

of shares 

Per share 
amount  

Per share 
amount 

Total  
earnings 

Weighted 
average 
number 

 of shares 

Per share 
amount 

Per share 
amount 

 $’000 ‘000 Cents Pence $’000 ‘000 Cents Pence 

Basic EPS         

Earnings attributable to 
ordinary shareholders 1 

162,894 218,635 74.50 49.59 101,753 173,829 58.54 36.64 

         
Effect of dilutive securities         
Options  8,847    5,583   
Diluted EPS         

Earnings attributable to 
ordinary shareholders 

162,894 227,482 71.61 47.66 101,753 179,412 56.71 35.50 

         
Supplementary EPS         
Basic EPS 162,894 218,635 74.50 49.59 101,753 173,829 58.54 36.64 
         
Tax adjustments 2 -    (9,939)    
Adjusted items3 238,580    202,921    
Tax relating to above items (67,766)    (62,528)    

         
Basic EPS – adjusted 333,708 218,635 152.63 101.60 232,207 173,829 133.58 83.61 

         
Diluted EPS 162,894 227,482 71.61 47.66 101,753 179,412 56.71 35.50 
         
Tax adjustments 2 -    (9,939)    
Adjusted items3 238,580    202,921    
Tax relating to above items (67,766)    (62,528)    

Diluted EPS – adjusted 333,708 227,482 146.70 97.65 232,207 179,412 129.43 81.01 

 
1   Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders is the profit for the year of $162,972,000 (2015: $101,451,000), excluding amounts 
attributable to non-controlling interests of $78,000 (2015: $302,000 loss).  
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11.  Earnings per share continued 

 
2 Tax Adjustments comprise a $nil (2015: $5.1m) deferred tax benefit from the recognition of additional US tax attributes as a result 
of the acquisition of TAG and a prior year current tax benefit of $nil (2015: $4.8m) in respect of the UK Patent Box.  
3 Adjusted items comprise amortization of purchased intangibles $181,934,000 (2015: $88,298,000), share-based compensation 
$28,793,000 (2015: $15,561,000), exceptional items $27,853,000 (2015: $96,678,000) and exceptional interest costs of $nil (2015: 
$2,384,000). Estimated tax relief on these items is as shown above. 
 

The weighted average number of shares excludes treasury shares that do not have dividend rights (note 22). 
 
Earnings per share, expressed in pence, has used the average exchange rate for the year of $1.50 to £1 (2015: $1.60 to £1). 

 
12. Taxation  
 
Profit before tax and adjusted profit before tax 

Profit before tax was $195.4m (2015: $91.4m). Adjusted profit before tax was $434.0m (2015: $294.3m): 
 

 
 

Year ended 
30 April 2016 

Year ended 
30 April 2015 

 $’000 $’000 

Profit before tax  195,396 91,427 
Share based compensation 28,793 15,561 
Amortization of purchased intangibles 181,934 88,298 
Exceptional costs 27,853 96,678 
Exceptional finance costs - 2,384 

Adjusted profit before tax 433,976 294,348 

 
The tax charge for the period was $32.4m (2015: credit of $10.0m) with the Group’s effective tax rate (“ETR”) being 16.6% (2015: 
minus 11.0%). The tax charge on adjusted profit before tax for the period was $100.2m (2015: $62.4m), which represents an ETR on 
adjusted profit of 23.1% (2015: 21.2%) as set out below: 

 

 

 
 

Year ended 30 April 2016 

 

Year ended 30 April 2015 

 
 

 
Actual 

 
Adjusts 

Adjusted 
measures 

 
Actual Adjusts 

Other tax 
items 

Adjusted 
measures 

 $’000 $’00 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Profit before tax 

 
195,396 

 
238,580 

 
433,976 

 
91,427 202,921 

 
- 

 
294,348 

Taxation 

 
(32,424) 

 
(67,766) 

 
(100,190) 

 
10,024 (62,528) 

 
(9,939) 

 
(62,443) 

Profit after tax 

 
162,972 

 
170,814 

 
333,786 

 
101,451 140,393 

 
(9,939) 

 
231,905 

         

Effective tax rate 

 
16.6% 

  
23.1% 

 
(11.0%)  

  
21.2% 

 
In computing adjusted profit before tax, $238.6m of adjustments have been made for the items shown in the adjusted profit before 
tax section above, of which the associated tax is $67.8m.  
 
The Adjusted ETR for the year ended 30 April 2016 (23.1%) is higher than the previous year (21.2%). This is due to the fact that the 
Group’s adjusted profit includes a full year of profit from TAG, which is taxed at higher rates, particularly in the US (where a proportion 
of earnings of non-US subsidiaries of TAG have also been taxed). This increase is partly offset by a full year’s worth of benefit from 
the intra-group financing arrangement, which was put in place as part of the acquisition of TAG. 
 
The Group continues to benefit from the UK’s Patent Box regime. Benefits during the year are $7.6m compared to $6.0m in the 
previous year.  
 
The Group’s medium term ETR is expected to be between 23% and 27% of the Group’s adjusted profit before tax. The increase 
compared to the forecast at 30 April 2015 of 21% to 25% is due to the impact of changes with regards to the deductibility of interest 
expense in the UK, which are expected to come into effect from April 2017, and wider uncertainty around the future impact of the 
OECD’s Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (“BEPS”) initiative. The acquisition of Serena is not expected to have a significant impact 
on the Group’s medium term ETR. The enacted reductions in the UK’s corporation tax rate from 20% currently to 19% from 1 April 
2017 and 18% from 1 April 2020 are not expected to give rise to a material reduction in the ETR. 
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12. Taxation continued 

 
The Group’s cash taxes paid in the period were $79.3m (2015: net repayment of $1.8m) reflecting the following factors: 
 
a) The Group paid $24.5m in respect of an Accelerated Payment notice issued by HMRC in relation to the historic tax issue 

disclosed in previous years, which impacts UK tax returns from 2009 until 2015.  Further details are set out below.  
 
b) The Group paid $27.2m in respect of forecast US Federal income tax liabilities for the current and previous year. Following a 

recalculation of the impact of temporary differences, including the offset of brought forward deferred tax assets, these liabilities 
are now expected to be significantly lower than previously anticipated. This accounts for the majority of the current tax 
receivables shown on the balance sheet of $18.0m.  

 
c) In the previous year, TAG received $17.0m of cash in the post-acquisition period relating to the settlement of tax audits and 

historic overpayments of tax in the US. 
 

As disclosed previously, the Group has benefited from a lower cash rate of tax in recent years as a result of an ongoing claim with 
HMRC in the UK, based on tax legislation, impacting its tax returns for the years ended 30 April 2009 through to 2015. The Group 
maintains a provision for the potential liability in its consolidated financial statements. A payment of $24.5m was made in accordance 
with an Accelerated Payment Notice issued by HMRC on 26 November 2015 which covers the years up to 30 April 2014. The 
remaining provision at 30 April 2016 is $5.6m (including interest on overdue tax of $3.1m) compared to $31.2m at 30 April 2015. 
 
The Group is one of a number of companies that have submitted similar claims. During the year, a test case chosen to establish the 
correct interpretation of the legislation was heard by the First-tier Tribunal, which ruled in favour of HMRC. The precise implications 
for the Group’s claim are subject to further discussion with HMRC. 
 
When the tax position is agreed with HMRC, then to the extent that the tax liability is lower than that provided in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, there would be a positive benefit to the tax charge in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income in the year of settlement and a refund of any amounts paid under the Accelerated Payment notice in excess of the agreed 
liability. 

 
13. Goodwill 
 

  2016 2015 
  $’000 $’000 

Cost and net book amount    
At 1 May   2,421,745 308,182 
Hindsight adjustment  5,583 213 
Acquisitions  8,840 2,113,350 

At 30 April   2,436,168 2,421,745 

 
A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below: 

   

Micro Focus  1,576,602 1,562,179 
SUSE  859,566 859,566 

At 30 April  2,436,168 2,421,745 

 

Following the Company reorganization on 1 May 2015, the Group has two operating segments: Micro Focus product portfolio and 
SUSE product portfolio and previously it had Base Micro Focus (North America, International and Asia Pacific and Japan) and TAG. 
Comparatives have been restated accordingly. 

 

The additions to goodwill in the year relate to the acquisition of Authasas BV and hindsight period adjustments for the TAG acquisition 
(note 26). Of the additions to goodwill, there is no amount that is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 
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14. Other intangible assets 

   Purchased intangibles  

  
 

Purchased 
software 

 
 

Development 
costs 

 
 
 

Technology 

 
 

Trade 
names 

 
 

Customer 
relationship

s 

 
Non-

compete 
agreements 

 
 
 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cost        
At 1 May 2015 19,283 154,151 301,127 217,510 760,823 1,303 1,454,197 
Acquisition of Authasas BV 
(note 26) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
2,545 

 
- 

 
811 

 
- 

 
3,356 

Additions 3,093 31,395 - - - - 34,488 
Disposals - - - - - (1,303) (1,303) 
Exchange adjustments (348) - - - - - (348) 

At 30 April 2016 22,028 185,546 303,672 217,510 761,634 - 1,490,390 

        
Accumulated amortization        
At 1 May 2015 18,348 122,782 78,661 7,814 93,068 1,303 321,976 
Charge for the year 1,864 19,515 75,227 15,040 91,667 - 203,313 
Disposals - - - - - (1,303) (1,303) 
Exchange adjustments (151) - - - - - (151) 

At 30 April 2016 20,061 142,297 153,888 22,854 184,735 - 523,835 

 
Net book amount at 30 April 
2016 

 
1,967 

 
43,249 

 
149,784 

 
194,656 

 
576,899 

 
- 

 
966,555 

 
Net book amount at 30 April 
2015 

 
935 

 
31,369 

 
222,466 

 
209,696 

 
667,755 

 
- 

 
1,132,221 

 

Expenditure totaling $34.5m (2015: $21.2m) was made in the year, including $31.4m in respect of development costs and 
$3.1m of purchased software. The acquisition of Authasas BV gives rise to an addition of $3.4m to purchased intangibles  (note 
26). Of the $31.4m of additions to development costs, $30.9m (2015: $19.5m) relates to internal development costs and $0.5m 
(2015: $nil) to external consultants development costs.  

 
At 30 April 2016, the unamortized lives of technology assets were in the range of two to six years, customer relationships in the range 
of one to seven years and trade names in the range of ten to twenty years. 
 
Amortization of $106.7m (2015: $51.2m) is included in selling and distribution costs, $94.7m (2015: $55.7m) is included in research 
and development expense and $1.9m (2015: $2.2m) is included in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

 
15. Property, plant and equipment 

Capital expenditure of $10.3m (2015: $5.0m) was made in the year.   
 

 Freehold 
land  

Leasehold Computer Fixtures   

 and buildings improvements equipment and fittings Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cost      
At 1 May 2015  15,888 20,385 20,556 5,046 61,875 
Acquisition of Authasas BV (note 26) - - 14 - 14 
Additions - 3,636 5,386 1,259 10,281 
Disposals - (434) (397) (658) (1,489) 
Exchange adjustments (705) (169) (104) (43) (1,021) 

At 30 April 2016 15,183 23,418 25,455 5,604 69,660 

Accumulated depreciation      
At 1 May 2015 1,235 5,740 11,051 953 18,979 
Charge for the year 403 3,541 6,127 1,348 11,419 
Disposals - (434) (344) (602) (1,380) 
Exchange adjustments (67) (33) (93) (32) (225) 

At 30 April 2016 1,571 8,814 16,741 1,667 28,793 

Net book amount at 30 April 2016 13,612 14,604 8,714 3,937 40,867 

Net book amount at 1 May 2015 14,653 14,645 9,505 4,093 42,896 
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16. Trade and other receivables 

  
2016 

 
2015 

 $’000 $’000 

Trade receivables 248,759 199,775 
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables (4,486) (2,520) 

Trade receivables net 244,273 197,255 
Prepayments 21,694 20,841 
Other receivables 1,651 523 
Accrued income 568 26 

Total 268,186 218,645 

 

At 30 April 2016 and 30 April 2015, the carrying amount approximates to the fair value. 

 
17. Trade and other payables – current 

  
2016 

 
2015 

 $’000 $’000 

Trade payables 20,793 18,580 
Tax and social security 10,425 8,962 
Accruals 156,872 133,823 

Total 188,090 161,365 

 

At 30 April 2016 and 30 April 2015, the carrying amount approximates to the fair value. 

 
18. Borrowings 

 

 2016 2015 

 $’000 $’000 

Bank loan secured 1,787,250 1,700,000 

Unamortized prepaid facility arrangement fees and original issue discounts (42,041) (55,137) 

 1,745,209 1,644,863 

 

 

 

 

Reported within: 

 

 

 

Bank loan 

secured 

Unamortized 

prepaid facility 

arrangement fees 

and original issue 

discounts 

 

 

 

 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Current liabilities 287,750 (12,494) 275,256 

Non-current liabilities 1,499,500 (29,547) 1,469,953 

 1,787,250 (42,041) 1,745,209 

 

 2016 2015 

 $’000 $’000 

Cash at bank and in hand 667,178 241,324 

Less borrowings (1,745,209) (1,644,863) 

Net debt (1,078,031) (1,403,539) 

 

The terms of the Micro Focus existing debt facilities are as follows: 

 Syndicated senior secured tranche B term loan facility of $1,275.0m (“Term Loan B”), with an interest rate of 4.25% above 

LIBOR (subject to a LIBOR floor of 1.00%), amortizing at 1.00% per annum, with an original issue discount of 1.00% and a 

seven year term; 

 

 A syndicated senior secured tranche C term loan facility of $500.0m (“Term Loan C”), with an interest rate of 3.75% above 

LIBOR (subject to a LIBOR floor of 0.75%), amortizing at 10.00% per annum, with an original issue discount of 1.5% and a 

five year term; and 

 

 A senior secured revolving credit facility of $225.0m, (“Revolving Facility”), with an interest rate of 3.50% above LIBOR on 

amounts drawn (and 0.50% on amounts undrawn) thereunder and an original issue discount of 0.50%. 
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18. Borrowings continued 

 
The Revolving Facility was increased to $375.0m on 2 May 2016 as part of the funding for the Serena acquisition (note 27). 

 
The only financial covenant attaching to these new facilities relates to the Revolving Facility, which is subject to an aggregate net 
leverage covenant only in circumstances where more than 35% of the Revolving Facility is outstanding at a fiscal quarter end. At 30 
April 2016 $225.0m of the Revolving Facility available at that time was drawn representing 100%, reducing to 60% on 2 May 2016 
when the facility was extended.  The covenant calculation indicates that the Group had in excess of 140% headroom against the 
covenant test. 

 

To fund the acquisition of TAG, the Group drew down $1,875.0m of the new facilities comprising all of the Term Loan B and Term 

Loan C together with $100.0m of the Revolving Facility. The movements on the Group loans in the year were as follows:  

 

 Term Loan B Term Loan C Revolving Facility Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 May 2015 1,125,000 500,000 75,000 1,700,000 

Repayments (12,750) (50,000) (95,000) (157,750) 

Draw downs - - 245,000 245,000 

At 30 April 2016  1,112,250 450,000 225,000 1,787,250 

 

Borrowings are stated after deducting unamortized prepaid facility fees and original issue discounts. Facility arrangement costs and 
original issue discounts are amortized between four and six years. 

 
The fair value of borrowings equals their carrying amount. 
 

19. Provisions 

 2016 2015 

 $’000 $’000 

Onerous leases and dilapidations 18,176 22,630 
Restructuring and integration 3,523 30,921 
Legal 1,920 3,065 
Other 1,280 10,637 

Total 24,899 67,253 

   

Current 10,545 49,334 

Non-current 14,354 17,919 

Total 24,899 67,253 

 

 
 

Onerous 
leases and 

dilapidations 

Restructuring 
and 

integration 

 
 

Legal 

 
 

Other 

 
 

Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 May 2015 22,630 30,921 3,065 10,637 67,253 

Additional provision in the year 7,735 26,897 - - 34,632 

Hindsight adjustment (note 26) - - 677 - 677 

Utilization of provision (10,049) (43,867) (1,258) (465) (55,639) 

Released (1,771) (10,594) (390) (8,892) (21,647) 

Unwinding of discount 6 - - - 6 

Exchange adjustments (375) 166 (174) - (383) 

At 30 April 2016 18,176 3,523 1,920 1,280 24,899 

      

Current 5,056 3,523 966 1,000 10,545 

Non-current 13,120 - 954 280 14,354 

Total 18,176 3,523 1,920 1,280 24,899 
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19. Provisions continued 
 

 Onerous 
leases and 

dilapidations 

Restructuring 
and  

integration 

 
 

Legal 

 
 

Other 

 
 

Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 May 2014 2,252 107 - 6,943 9,302 

Acquisition of TAG (note 26) 

GGroup 

 

3,957 650 3,859 3,000 11,466 

Additional provision in the year 18,872 31,329 83 3,200 53,484 

Utilization of provision (2,211) (1,053) (601) (1,790) (5,655) 

Released (153) (77) - (716) (946) 

Unwinding of discount 42 - - - 42 

Exchange adjustments (129) (35) (276) - (440) 

At 30 April 2015 22,630 30,921 3,065 10,637 67,253 

      

Current 9,979 30,090 3,065 6,200 49,334 

Non-current 12,651 831 - 4,437 17,919 

Total 22,630 30,921 3,065 10,637 67,253 

 

The onerous lease and dilapidations provision relates to leased Group properties and this position is expected to be fully utilized 
within nine years.  The provision was increased by $7.7m due to a lengthening in the estimated time to sublease certain properties 
and reduced by $1.8m due to the shortening in the estimated time to sublease two properties.  
 
Restructuring and integration provisions relate mostly to severance and integration work undertaken during the year ended 30 April 
2016. Integration provisions arose from the work done in bringing together the Base Micro Focus and TAG organizations into one 
organization. This includes, amongst other activities; email migration, system integration and legal entity reorganization. Severance 
releases relate to the change in estimates made for integrating the TAG business in the year ended 30 April 2015, including the 
redeployment of staff previously notified of redundancy. The provisions are expected to be fully utilized within 12 months. 
   
Legal provisions include management’s best estimate of the likely outflow of economic benefits associated with ongoing legal matters.   
 
Other provisions include primarily: 

 Potential liabilities acquired with the Iona acquisition of $nil as no longer required (2015: $3.8m);  
 $0.2m relating to tax due for pension and bonus payments prior to July 2011 for a subsidiary in Brazil (2015: $0.6m); 
 Provision that was inherited relating to potential software licencing issues of $nil as no longer required (2015: $3.0m); and  
 $1.0m remaining provision for potential customer claims (2015: $3.2m). 

 

Of the net additions and releases to provisions in the year, $19.3m (2015: $50.2m) was included in exceptional items. 

 

20. Deferred income - current 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Deferred income 565,480 583,703 

 

Revenue not recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income under the Group’s accounting policy for revenue 
recognition is classified as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position to be recognized in future periods. 
 
21. Retirement benefit obligations  
  2016 

$’000 

2015 

$’000 

Within non-current assets :    

Long term pension assets  22,272 14,076 

Within non-current liabilities:    

Retirement benefit obligations   (31,669) (32,742) 
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21. Retirement benefit obligations continued 

There are three defined benefit plans in Germany under broadly similar regulatory frameworks. All of the plans are final salary pension 
plans, which provide benefits to members in the form of a guaranteed level of pension payable for life in the case of retirement, 
disability and death. The level of benefits provided depends not only on the final salary but also on member’s length of service, social 
security ceiling and other factors. Final pension entitlements are calculated by our Actuary in Swiss Life. They also complete 
calculations for cases of death in service and disability. There is no requirement for the appointment of Trustees in Germany. The 
schemes are administered locally with the assistance of German pension experts. All three plans were closed for new membership.  

Long-term pension assets 
 

Certain long-term pension assets do not meet the definition of plan assets as they have not been pledged to the plan and are subject 
to the creditors of the Group. Such assets as follows are recorded separately in the consolidated statement of financial position as 
long-term pension assets. 
 
The movement on the long-term pension asset is as follows: 

 
 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

As at 1 May  14,076 - 
Acquisition of TAG (note 26) - 15,472 
Hindsight adjustment (note 26) 3,917 - 
Return on non-plan assets 333 - 
Benefits paid (8) - 
Contributions  475  
Actuarial gain on non-plan assets included within other comprehensive income 3,104 - 
Foreign currency exchange changes 375 (1,396) 

As at 30 April 22,272 14,076 

 
The long-term pension asset was acquired as part of the acquisition of TAG. The non-plan assets were not subject to an actuarial 
revaluation until after 30 April 2015 and therefore a hindsight adjustment has been made in respect of this and reflected in this year’s 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Retirement benefit obligations 
 

The net liability included in the consolidated statement of financial position arising from obligations in respect of defined benefit 
schemes is as follows: 

 2016  2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Present value of funded obligations 37,524 38,224 
Fair value of plan assets (5,855) (5,482) 

 31,669 32,742 

 

The retirement benefit obligation has moved as follows: 
 

 2016  2015 

 Defined 
benefit 

obligations 

Scheme 
assets 

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations 

 Defined 
benefit 

obligations 

Scheme 
assets 

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations 

 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 
At 1 May  38,224 (5,482) 32,742  - - - 
Acquisition of TAG - - -  37,128 (5,871) 31,257 
Current service cost 760 - 760  330 - 330 
Benefits paid (100) 84 (16)  (68) 16 (52) 
Contributions by plan participants - (126) (126)  - (81) (81) 
Interest cost/(income) 546 (79) 467  320 (59) 261 
Remeasurements - actuarial losses:        

- Demographic - - -  - - - 
- Financial (2,024) - (2,024)  4,565 - 4,565 
- Experience (565) - (565)  (140) - (140) 
- Actuarial return on assets 

excluding amounts included in 
interest income 

  
 

(108) 

 
 

(108) 

   
 

(229) 

 
 

(229) 
Other (transfer to non-plan assets) - - -  - 128 128 
Foreign currency exchange changes  683 (144) 539  (3,911) 614 (3,297) 

At 30 April 37,524 (5,855) 31,669  38,224 (5,482) 32,742 
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21. Retirement benefit obligations continued 

 

$1.2m (2015: $0.6m) is included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in respect of the German defined benefit 
pension arrangements being a current service charge of $0.8m (2015: $0.3m) and a net finance charge of $0.5m (2015: $0.3m). 
 

The contributions for the year ended 30 April 2017 is expected to be broadly in line with the current year. 
 
The amounts recognized as movements in equity included $0.1m (2015: $0.2m) of actuarial return on assets excluding amounts 
included in interest and $2.6m (2015: $4.4m loss) of experience gains arising on scheme liabilities. 
 
The key assumptions used for the German scheme were: 

 2016 2015 

Rate of increase in final pensionable salary 2.60% 2.60% 
Rate of increase in pension payments  2.00% 2.00% 
Discount rate 1.70% 1.45% 
Inflation  2.00% 2.00% 

 
The mortality assumptions for the German scheme are set based on actuarial advice in accordance with published statistics and 
experience in the territory, specifically German pension table ‘Richttafeln 2005 G’ by Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck. This is unchanged 
from that reported as at 30 April 2015. 

 
Sensitivities 

The table below provides information on the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes to the most significant actuarial 
assumptions. The table shows the impact of changes to each assumption in isolation, although, in practice, changes to assumptions 
may occur at the same time and can either offset or compound the overall impact on the defined benefit obligation.   
 
These sensitivities have been calculated using the same methodology as used for the main calculations.  The weighted average 
duration of the defined benefit obligation is 25 years. 
 

  
 

Change in 
assumption 

Change in 
defined 
benefit 

obligation 

Discount rate for scheme liabilities  0.50% 12.9% 
Price inflation  0.25% 3.6% 
Salary growth rate 0.50% 1.6% 

 
An increase of one year in the assumed life expectancy for both males and females would increase the defined benefit obligation by 
2.9% (2015: 2.9%). The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to 
previous years. 

 
22. Share capital 
 
Ordinary shares at 10 pence each (2015: 10 pence each) 

 2016  2015 

 Shares $’000  Shares $’000 

Issued and fully paid      
At 1 May  228,587,397 39,555  152,419,885 37,802 
Shares issued to satisfy option awards 118,313 18  494,709 106 
Share placement issues 500 -  - - 
Shares issued on the acquisition of TAG - -  86,595,711 13,550 
Share reorganization - -  (10,922,908) (11,903) 

At 30 April  228,706,210 39,573  228,587,397 39,555 

 
Share issued during the year 

During the year, 118,313 ordinary shares of 10 pence each (2015: 464,919 ordinary shares of 1313/24 pence each and 29,790 ordinary 
shares of 10 pence) were issued by the Company to settle exercised share options. The gross consideration received was $1.0m 
(2015: $1.5m).  
 
On the 22 March 2016, the Group announced its intention to conduct a placing with institutional investors to raise approximately 
£150m in order to partially fund the acquisition of Serena Software Inc. which was completed on 2 May 2016 (note 27). 500 new 
ordinary 10 pence shares and 10,872,680 treasury shares were issued at a price of £14.55 resulting in gross proceeds of £158.2m 
($225.7m) and incurring costs of $3.0m. A $49.5m retained reserves movement relating to the issue of treasury shares reflecting their 
original issue costs, $176.2m of share premium and transaction costs of $3.0m were recorded.  
 
At 30 April 2016 a total of 29,924 treasury shares were held (2015: 11,339,583) such that the voting rights and number of listed 
shares at 30 April 2016 were 228,676,286 (2015: 217,247,764). 
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22. Share capital continued  
 
Potential issues of shares 

Certain employees hold options to subscribe for shares in the Company at prices ranging from nil pence to 1,334.0 pence under the 
following share option schemes approved by shareholders in 2005 and 2006: the Long-Term Incentive Plan 2005, the Additional 
Share Grants, the Sharesave Plan 2006 and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan 2006.  
 
The number of shares subject to options at 30 April 2016 was 9,264,743 (2015: 8,919,079).  

 
‘B’ shares at 60 pence each 

  2016  2015 
 Shares $’000 Shares $’000 

Issued and fully paid     
At 1 May  - - - - 
Issue of ‘B’ shares - - 50,568,360 47,477 
Redemption of ‘B’ shares - - (50,568,360) (47,477) 

At 30 April  - - - - 

 
On 20 November 2014, 50,568,360 ‘B’ shares were issued at 60 pence each, resulting in a total of $47.5m being credited to the ‘B’ 
share capital account.  On 20 November 2014, 50,568,360 ‘B’ shares were redeemed at 60 pence each and an amount of $47.5m 
was deducted from the ‘B’ share capital account. 
  
‘C’ shares at 0.0000001 pence each 

  2016  2015 
 Shares $’000 Shares $’000 

Issued and fully paid     
At 1 May  - - - - 
Issue of ‘C’ shares - - 89,328,151 - 
Cancellation of ‘C’ shares - - (89,328,151) - 

At 30 April  - - - - 

 
On 20 November 2014, 89,328,151 ‘C’ shares were issued at 0.0000001 pence each, resulting in a total of 14 cents being credited 
to the ‘C’ share capital account. On 20 November 2014 a dividend of 60 pence per C share was declared and was payable on 20 
November 2014. The ‘C’ shares were subsequently reclassified as Deferred Shares and repurchased by the Company for an 
aggregate consideration of 1 pence and then subsequently cancelled and an amount of 14 cents was deducted from the ‘C’ share 
capital account. 

 

Deferred D Shares at 0.041667 pence each  

  2016  2015 
 Shares $’000 Shares $’000 

Issued and fully paid     
At 1 May  - - - - 
Issue of ‘Deferred ’ shares - - 15,606,772,650 11,903 
Cancellation of ‘Deferred’ shares - - (15,606,772,650) (11,903) 

At 30 April  - - - - 

 
On 20 November 2014, as a consequence of the share consolidation, 15,606,772,650 deferred D shares were issued at 0.041667 
pence each, resulting in a total of $11.9m being credited to the 'Deferred D share capital account. The deferred D shares were 
repurchased by the Company for an aggregate consideration of 1 pence and cancelled. An amount of $11.9m was deducted from 
the 'Deferred D' share capital account.  
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23. Other reserves 

 

 
Note 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 2,5 

Merger 
reserve 1,3,4,5 

Total 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

As at 1 May 2014  103,983 (27,085) 76,898 
Acquisition of TAG3 26 - 1,372,666 1,372,666 
Return of Value – share consolidation5  11,903 - 11,903 
Return of Value – new share issues5  47,477 (47,477) - 
Reallocation of merger reserve4  - (130,000) (130,000) 

As at 30 April 2015   163,363 1,168,104 1,331,467 

Reallocation of merger reserve4  - (180,000) (180,000) 

As at 30 April 2016  163,363 988,104 1,151,467 
 

1 On 17 May 2005, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Micro Focus International Limited by way of a share for share exchange, 
pursuant to which the previous shareholders of Micro Focus International Limited were issued and allotted three ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company for every one ordinary share they previously held in Micro Focus International Limited.  This increase in share capital created a merger 
reserve deficit of $27.1m.   
 
2 In January 2012 a Return of Value was made to all shareholders amounting to $129.0m in cash after including a foreign exchange contract gain of 
$0.6m.  As a result of this a capital redemption reserve was created following the redemption of the B shares. In November 2012 a further Return of 
Value was made to all shareholders amounting to $128.2m in cash after including a foreign exchange contract gain of $2.4m.  In the year ended 30 
April 2014 a further $47.1m was added to the capital redemption reserve following the redemption of the B shares. 

 
3 On 20 November 2014 the TAG acquisition was completed (note 26). As a result of this a merger reserve was created of $1.372.7m. The acquisition 
of TAG was structured by way of a share for share exchange; this transaction fell within the provisions of section 612 of the Companies Act 2006 
(merger relief) such that no share premium was recorded in respect of the shares issued. The Company chose to record its investment in TAG at fair 
value and therefore recorded a merger reserve equal to the value of the share premium which would have been recorded had section 612 of the 
Companies Act 2006 not been applicable (i.e. equal to the difference between the fair value of TAG and the aggregate nominal value of the shares 
issued).  This merger reserve was initially considered unrealized on the basis it was represented by the investment in TAG, which is not considered 
to represent qualifying consideration (in accordance with Tech 02/10 (Guidance on the determination of realized profits and losses in the context of 
distributions under the Companies Act 2006)). Immediately following the acquisition of TAG, the Company's investment in TAG was transferred to 
another Group company in exchange for an intercompany loan. To the extent this loan is settled in qualifying consideration, the related proportion of 
the merger reserve is considered realized.   
 
4 The merger reserve is an unrealized profit until it can be realized by the settlement of the intercompany loan by qualifying consideration. $180.0m 
of the intercompany loan is expected to be settled in qualifying consideration during the year to 30 April 2017 (2015: $130.0m) and as such an 
equivalent proportion of the merger reserve is considered realized and therefore has been transferred to the profit and loss account. 
 
5 In December 2014 a Return of Value was made to all shareholders amounting to $131.6m in cash (note 25). The Return of Value was accompanied 
by a 0.9285 share consolidation and resulted in a net $11.9m reduction in share capital and an $11.9m increase in the capital redemption reserve. In 
addition $47.5m was transferred from the merger reserve to the capital redemption reserve.  

 
24. Related party transactions 

The Group has taken advantage of the exemption available under IAS 24, “Related Party Disclosures”, not to disclose details o f 
transactions with its subsidiary undertakings.  
 
At the beginning of the year Wizard Parent LLC held 39.9% of the issued share capital of the Company and during the year they 
reduced their holding to 13.8% by 30 April 2016 and by 13 July 2016 their holding was only 2.6%. There are three major shareholders 
of Wizard Parent LLC and one of these shareholders held a major shareholding in a technology company with which Micro Focus 
has traded with during the year. These transactions were at arms’ length and the goods and services were based on the price l ists in 
force and terms that would be available to third parties.  The value of sales made to this third party in the year was $12.2m (2015: 
$5.0m) and the value of goods purchased was $0.8m (2015: $0.1m). 
 
25. Return of Value to shareholders 

There has not been a Return of Value to shareholders in the year ended 30 April 2016. 
 
In December 2014 the Company completed a Return of Value to shareholders amounting to £83.9m ($131.6m) in cash (60 pence 
per share, equivalent to 94.02 cents per share), by way of a B and C share scheme, which gave shareholders (other than certain 
overseas shareholders) a choice between receiving the cash in the form of income or capital. The Return of Value was accompanied 
by a 0.9285 share consolidation to maintain broad comparability of the share price and return per share of the ordinary shares before 
and after the creation of the B and C shares.  
 
This was the Group’s 4th Return of Value to shareholders.  Since 25 March 2011 the Company has returned a total of £625.1m to 
shareholders through share buy-backs, Returns of Value and ordinary dividends which represented 98.4% of the Market Capitalization 
at that time.  

 
As part of the corporate entity restructuring resulting from the acquisition a merger reserve was created of approximately $1.4bn, 
which is expected to become a distributable reserve in future periods. This creates flexibility for future Returns of Value once Net 
Debt to Facility EBITDA is below 2.5 times. 
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26. Business combinations   

 
Summary of acquisitions in the year ended 30 April 2016 

 
      Consideration 

 

Carrying 
value at 

acquisition 
Fair value 

adjustments 

 
Hindsight 

adjustments Goodwill 

  
 

Shares Cash 

 
 

Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 

         
Acquisitions in the year ended 
30 April 2016: 

        

Authasas BV 1,110 10 - 8,840  - 9,960 9,960 
         
Acquisitions in the year ended 
30 April 2015: 

        

TAG (501,338) (225,796) (5,583) 2,118,933  1,386,216 - 1,386,216 
         

 (500,228) (225,786) (5,583) 2,127,773  1,386,216 9,960 1,396,176 

 
Acquisition of Authasas BV 
 

On the 17 July 2015, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Authasas BV, a company registered in The Hague, the 
Netherlands. The activities of Authasas BV mainly consist of the developing, producing and publishing/selling of authentication 
software. The consideration was $10.0m and was satisfied using Micro Focus’ existing bank facilities. The acquisition costs incurred 
of $0.5m were expensed as exceptional items through administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income.    
 
A fair value review was carried out on the assets and liabilities of the acquired business, resulting in the identification of intangible 
assets. 

 

Details of the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: 

 Carrying value 
at acquisition 

Fair value 
adjustments 

 
Fair value 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Intangible assets - purchased 1 - 3,356 3,356 
Intangible assets - other 2 1,973 (1,973) - 
Property, plant and equipment 14 - 14 
Inventory 11 - 11 
Deferred tax asset 3 339 (339) - 
Trade and other receivables 463 - 463 
Cash and cash equivalent 106 - 106 
Trade and other payables 4 (1,796) (68) (1,864) 
Deferred tax liabilities 5 - (966) (966) 

Net assets  1,110 10 1,120 
Goodwill (note 13)   8,840 

Consideration   9,960 

    
Consideration satisfied by :    

Cash   9,960 

 

Trade and other receivables is net of a bad debt provision of $16,000. 
 
The fair value adjustments relate to: 
1 Purchased intangible assets have been valued based on a market participant point of view and the fair value has been based 

on various characteristics of the product lines and intangible assets of Authasas BV; 
2 Other intangible assets relating to development costs have been written down to nil; 
3 The deferred tax asset on acquisition has been written down to nil; 
4 Deferred income has been valued taking account of the remaining performance obligations; 
5  A deferred tax liability has been established relating to the purchase of intangibles.   
 

The purchased intangible assets acquired as part of the acquisition can be analyzed as follows (note 14): 

 Fair value 

 $’000 

Technology  2,545 

Customer relationships  811 

 3,356 
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26. Business combinations  continued 

 
Acquisition of Authasas BV continued 

 
The value of the goodwill represents the value of the assembled workforce at the time of the acquisition with specific knowledge and 
technical skills. It also represents the prospective future economic benefits that are expected to accrue from enhancing the portfolio 
of products available to the Company’s existing customer base with those of the acquired business.  
 
The Group has used acquisition accounting for the purchase and the goodwill arising on consolidation of $8.8m has been capitalized.  
From the date of acquisition, 17 July 2015 to 30 April 2016, the acquisition contributed $0.1m to revenue and a loss of $0.6m to 
Adjusted EBITDA. 
 
The estimated results of the above acquisition, excluding intercompany royalties, if it had been made at the beginning of the 
accounting year, 1 May 2015 to 30 April 2016 would have been as follows: 

 
Pro-forma $m 

Revenue 0.1 

Loss for the year (1.0) 

Adjusted EBITDA (0.8) 

Underlying Adjusted EBITDA (1.3) 

 
The estimated results of the Enlarged Group if the acquisition had been made at the beginning of the accounting year, 1 May 2015 
to 30 April 2016 would have been as follows: 

 
Pro-forma $m 

Revenue 1,245.0 

Profit for the year 162.8 

Adjusted EBITDA 546.6 

Underlying Adjusted EBITDA 532.2 

 
The above figures are based on information provided to Micro Focus by Authasas BV and the results since acquisition.  
 
Acquisition of TAG 

 
On 20 November 2014, the Group acquired from Wizard Parent LLC (“Wizard”), TAG, a US Company based in Houston. The 
acquisition of TAG was made as this presented a rare opportunity to achieve a significant increase in the scale and breadth of Micro 
Focus, with the potential to deliver Total Shareholder Returns that are superior to those likely to be achieved on an organic basis. 
 
The Company acquired the entire share capital of TAG, in exchange for the issue of 86.6m Consideration Shares to TAG’s parent 
Company, Wizard. The value of the Consideration Shares allotted to Wizard was $1,386.2m.   
 

Of the consideration of $1,386.2m, $13.5m was credited to share capital and $1,372.7m was credited to the merger reserve. The 
Group qualifies for merger accounting under S612 of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
The acquisition of TAG was classified as a reverse takeover under the London Stock Exchange Listing Rules. Under the completion 
of the acquisition the listing on the premium listing segment of the Official List of all the Existing Ordinary Shares was cancelled and 
application was made for the immediate readmission of those Existing Ordinary Shares and the admission of the Consideration 
Shares to the premium listing segment of the Official List and to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed 
securities. The relisting fees incurred by the Group were $723,000.   

 
A fair value review was carried out on the assets and liabilities of the acquired business, resulting in the identification of intangible 
assets. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

46 

Notes to the financial statements (audited) 
 
26. Business combinations continued 

 
Acquisition of TAG continued 

 
Details of the net liabilities acquired and goodwill are as follows: 

 Carrying 
value at 

acquisition 

Fair value 
adjustments 

Hindsight 
period 

adjustments 

 
Fair value 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Goodwill 906,052 (906,052) - - 

Intangible assets - purchased 1 214,222 913,410 - 1,127,632 

Intangible assets - other 3 17,282 (5,519) - 11,763 

Property, plant and equipment 25,965 - - 25,965 

Assets held for sale 888 - - 888 

Investment in associates 15,689 - - 15,689 

Long-term pension assets  15,472 - 3,917 19,389 

Other non-current assets 4,952 - - 4,952 

Deferred tax assets 204,566 (13,334) (960) 190,272 

Non-current assets 1,405,088 (11,495) 2,957 1,396,550 

     

Inventories 16 - - 16 

Trade and other receivables  158,226 - - 158,226 

Current tax recoverable 10,857 - (2,942) 7,915 

Cash and cash equivalents 165,946 - - 165,946 

Current assets 335,045 - (2,942) 332,103 

     

Trade and other payables 4,  (205,806) 3,344 (1,626) (204,088) 

Borrowings (1,294,726) - - (1,294,726) 

Short-term provisions  (8,852) - (677) (9,529) 

Short-term deferred income 2 (433,261) 29,367 - (403,894) 

Current liabilities (1,942,645) 32,711 (2,303) (1,912,237) 

     
Long-term deferred income 2 (203,519) 13,301 - (190,218) 

Long-term provisions (2,614) - - (2,614) 

Retirement benefit obligations (31,257) - - (31,257) 

Other non-current liabilities (9,406) - - (9,406) 

Deferred tax liabilities 5 (50,749) (260,313) (3,295) (314,357) 

Non-current liabilities (297,545) (247,012) (3,295) (547,852) 

     

Non-controlling interest (1,281) - - (1,281) 

     

Net liabilities acquired (501,338) (225,796) (5,583) (732,717) 

Goodwill (note 13)    2,118,933 

Consideration    1,386,216 

     
Consideration satisfied by :     

Shares    1,386,216 

 
Trade and other receivables is net of a bad debt provision of $124,000. 
 
The fair value adjustments relate to: 
 
1 Purchased intangible assets have been valued based on a market participant point of view and the fair value has been based 

on various characteristics of the product lines and intangible assets of TAG; 
2 Deferred income has been valued taking account of the remaining performance obligations; 
3 Other intangible assets relating to development costs have been written down to nil; 
4 Deferred rent within ‘Trade and other payables’ has been reassessed; and  
5 A deferred tax liability has been established relating to the purchased intangibles.   

 
As at 30 April 2016 the hindsight adjustments that have been identified to finalize the acquisition fair value, are long-term pension 
assets, accruals and legal provisions. The valuation of long-term pension assets was reassessed, additional accruals were identified 
and additional legal provisions were made relating to a claim. The tax impact of these adjustments has been included. The valuation 
of current and deferred tax balances has also been reassessed. 
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27. Post balance sheet events 

 
Acquisition of Serena Software Inc. 

 
On 2 May 2016, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Spartacus Acquisition Holdings Corp. the holding company of Serena 
Software Inc. (“Serena”) and its subsidiaries at an enterprise value of $540m, payable in cash at completion. The acquisition is highly 
consistent with the Group’s established acquisition strategy and focus on the efficient management of mature infrastructure software 
products.  
 
Serena is a leading provider of enterprise software focused on providing Application Lifecycle Management products for both 
mainframe and distributed systems. Whilst Serena is headquartered in San Mateo, California the operations are effectively managed 
from offices in Hillsboro, Oregon and St. Albans in the United Kingdom. It operates in a further 10 countries. The Serena Group’s 
customers are typically highly regulated large enterprises, across a variety of sectors including banking, insurance, telco, 
manufacturing and retail, healthcare and government. Like Micro Focus, Serena benefits from high levels of recurring maintenance 
revenues and high EBITDA margins, with consistently strong cash generation and no significant customer concentration. Serena’s 
position in the Source Code Change Management (SCCM) segment complements the Micro Focus product portfolio in COBOL 
Development, Host Connectivity, and CORBA.  

 
Serena will be integrated into the Micro Focus product portfolio and the revenues will be reported in the Development and IT 
Operations Management Tools sub-portfolio and, consequently, it will give rise to operational efficiencies. The transaction is expected 
to enhance the Group’s adjusted earnings in the year ending 30 April 2017.  

 
The Group acquired the Serena Group on a cash and debt free basis for an enterprise value of $540m in cash, to be settled through 
the repayment of the Serena Group’s net indebtedness at completion (estimated at approximately $252m) and the purchase of 
Serena’s entire share capital from the vendors (being principally funds managed by US private equity firm HGGC and a trust related 
to Serena’s founder) for the balance of approximately $288m, subject to customary working capital and other adjustments.  

 
The transaction has been funded through the Group’s existing cash resources together with additional debt and equity finance 
arranged through Barclays, HSBC and Numis Securities. On the 2 May 2016, the Group’s existing revolving credit facility were 
extended from $225m to $375m and the Group raised approximately £158.2m (approximately $225.7m) through a Placing 
underwritten by Numis Securities incurring $3.0m of costs associated with the Placing in March 2016 (note 22). 
 
The last period for which audited results (KPMG Auditors) are available for the Serena Group is the year ended 31 January 2015. For 
this period the Serena Group reported revenues of $176.2m (of which licence, maintenance and professional services represented 
approximately 19%, 73% and 8% respectively) and profit before tax of $30.3m. The Group expects that Underlying Adjusted EBITDA 
(as reported on the same basis as Micro Focus) is $87.0m for the Serena Group for the year ended 31 January 2015. As at 31 
January 2015 the gross assets of the Serena Group amounted to $558.4m. These figures are audited under US GAAP.  

 
The Group has not yet presented the full IFRS3 “Business Combinations” disclosures as it is not yet practicable to do so. 

 
As part of its due diligence process Micro Focus has also reviewed unaudited management accounts information for the Serena 
Group’s financial year ended 31 January 2016, presented under US GAAP, which shows revenues of $162.3m and Underlying 
Adjusted EBITDA of $80.9m. Approximately $8m of the decrease in revenues and $3m of the decrease in Underlying Adjusted 
EBITDA between FY15 and FY16 are attributable to foreign exchange movements, notably the strengthening of the US dollar.  
 
 
28. Principal risks and uncertainties 

 

Risk management overview 

 
The board is responsible for ensuring the effective identification, assessment and management of risk across the Group. As the Group 
has grown following the transformational acquisition of TAG in November 2014, so the board has enhanced the risk management 
process to ensure that it is robust. Underpinning the operation of, and central to, the risk management process is the culture of the 
Group, led by the board, of openness, transparency, trust and accountability. On behalf of the board the Audit Committee reviews 
and challenges the effectiveness of the risk management process. 
 
A review of the Group’s overall risk management framework was undertaken at the start of the year. In the year the board put in place 
a new Risk Management Policy and Procedure which included a revised Risk Management Framework (“RMF”). A key component 
of the RMF for the board was that, whilst the RMF enables a robust assessment of risk, it is also practical and proportionate. This 
ensures that the RMF is embedded into the day to day business processes across the Group, to drive risk awareness and risk culture. 
Going forward the board will continue to build upon the RMF to respond to any future change in the Group’s risk profile.  As part of 
the assurance for the board the operation of the RMF is facilitated by an independent Internal Risk Management function. Individual 
risks are also mapped onto the Internal Audit plan for the year. The RMF is also subject to an annual review by Internal Audit. 
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28. Principal risks and uncertainties continued 

 

Risks are identified, assessed and recorded by the Micro Focus and SUSE businesses and the Group functions. Each business area 
director and Group function head is responsible for the identification, assessment and management of risk in their area. Each risk is 
owned by an individual in that area. The process includes the use of risk registers, one to one interviews with business area directors, 
Group function heads and board members. Risks are assessed on a gross and net basis against a consistent set of criteria defined 
by the board. The criteria measures likelihood of occurrence against potential impact to the Group including financial results, strategic 
plans, operations and reputation. Each risk is given a risk tolerance. The assessment includes current and emerging risks, as well as 
internal and external threats. The board takes a balanced approach to risk to ensure an appropriate position between risk aversion, 
opportunities and gains in pursuit of its strategic objectives when setting the risk appetite for the Group. Existing controls and 
improvement actions are recorded on the risk register for each risk. 

 
The RMF contains a continuous cycle of review and reporting over the year. No fewer than five times a year, following one to one 
interviews with the business area directors and Group Function heads, the individual risk registers are consolidated to form the Group 
risk profile. The Group risk profile is reported to the Executive Directors for monitoring, review and challenge. A report is made to 
every Audit Committee meeting in the year for review and to challenge the effectiveness of the RMF, and then approval by the board. 
As part of the RMF an annual review of risk is also undertaken, this is aligned with the annual review of Internal Audit. These annual 
reviews focus on areas for improvement in the process, as well as the key emerging areas of risk for the Group in the year ahead. 
An area of focus in the forthcoming year is to strengthen the approach to risk appetite and so ensure a consistent risk based decision 
making process across the Group. 

 
Principal risks and uncertainties 
 

The Group, in common with all businesses, could be affected by risks and uncertainties that may have a material effect on its business 
operations and achieving its strategic objectives including its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. These risks 
could cause actual results to differ materially from forecasts or historic results. The board is mindful of the interdependencies of some 
risks. Where possible, the Group seeks to mitigate these risks through its RMF and internal controls, but this can only provide 
reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance against material losses.   
 
Following the UK vote on the 23 June 2016 to leave the EU there is likely to be a protracted period for many months of uncertainty 
and negotiation whilst the political and legal issues are resolved. We have put in place a Brexit Working Group and have processes 
in place to assess, respond, monitor and track the impact of Brexit on our businesses and associated risks as matters progress and 
how the business can seek to mitigate these risks. The uncertainty has created an immediate impact on the financial markets in 
currency fluctuations and this is reflected in our Treasury risk below.  

 
The following are the principal risks and uncertainties, potential impacts and mitigations that are relevant to the Group as a provider 
of software products and associated services at this time. The list of principal risks includes risks reported in FY15 and the FY16 
interims relating to Products, Go to Market models, Competition, Employees and Macro-economic environment as well as newly 
reported risks in relation to Change Management, IT Systems and Information, Legal and Regulatory Compliance, Intellectual 
Property, Treasury and Tax as part of the new RMF referred to under the Risk management overview above. There may be other 
risks which could emerge in the future.  
 
Products   
 

Risk 

To remain successful the Group must ensure that its products continue to meet the requirements of customers.  Investment in 
research and innovation in product development is essential to meet customer and partner requirements in order to maximize 
revenues and corporate performance.  The Group has a large number of products, at differing stages of their life cycle. The extent 
of investment in each product set needs to be managed and prioritized considering the expected future prospects, to ensure an 
effective balance between growth and legacy products. 
 
Potential impact 

If products do not meet the requirements of customers they will seek alternative solutions, resulting in the loss of new revenue 
opportunities and the cancellation of existing contracts.  Insufficient focus on key research and development projects may damage 
the long-term growth prospects of the Group.  Poor cross-selling of Micro Focus and SUSE products could reduce the prospects 
for additional revenue streams going forward. 
 
Mitigation 

The Group continued to improve the interaction between Product Management, Product Development, Sales and Marketing.  The 
Group’s structured approach to managing its products was further enhanced during the year. Following the TAG acquisition, to 
build a strong plan and foundation on which to deliver the Group’s potential, the Group carried out a detailed analysis of the 
individual products, their markets, customers and growth potential.   
 
As from the start of the year the Group has operated as two product portfolios Micro Focus and SUSE.  All of the Group’s products 
are managed through the global product management and development organization, with a geographic Go to Market 
organization. The Micro Focus, NetIQ, Attachmate and Novell products are managed as a portfolio under Micro Focus, with a 
defined strategy, target market and growth profile for each product.  To capitalize on the growth potential of the SUSE product 
portfolio these are managed separately and dedicated resources concentrate on the development, customer care and sales, 
marketing and engineering.  
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28. Principal risks and uncertainties continued 

 
To ensure appropriate leadership and the continued evolution of the two product portfolios, on 1 February 2016 Chief Executive 
Officers for Micro Focus and SUSE were appointed to the board. On 17 July 2015 the Group acquired Authasas BV a Dutch entity 
proving Multi Factor Authentication for the security market which is embedded in TAG products. On 22 March 2016 the board 
announced the acquisition of Spartacus Acquisition Holdings Corp, the holding company of Serena Software Inc. (“Serena”), 
which will become part of the Micro Focus product portfolio, to further enhance the strategy of efficient management of mature 
infrastructure software products. Serena’s position in the Source Code Change Management segment will be integrated into the 
IT development and operational management tools sub-portfolio of Micro Focus, which will complement the Micro Focus product 
portfolio in COBOL Development, Host Connectivity and CORBA. At SUSE there was an increase in headcount in the year focused 
on the development, customer care and sales, marketing and engineering of the SUSE portfolio. 

 
Go to Market (“GTM”) models  

 
Risk 

For the Group to succeed in meeting revenue and growth targets it requires successful GTM models across the full product 
portfolio, with effective strategies and plans to exploit channel opportunities and focus the sales force on all types of customer 
categories. In addition, effective GTM models will be more successful if accompanied by compelling Micro Focus and SUSE brand 
awareness programmes. 
 
Potential impact 

Poor execution of GTM plans may limit the success of the Group by targeting the wrong customers through the wrong channels 
and using the wrong product offerings. 
 
Mitigation  

Following the integration review the Group undertook a major restructuring to create a global product group with geographic GTM 
sales organizations.  Revenue plans are supported by a range of measures to monitor and drive improvements in GTM operating 
models in both Micro Focus and SUSE. To ensure appropriate leadership and the continued evolution of the two businesses, on 
1 February 2016 Chief Executive Officers for Micro Focus and SUSE were appointed to the board. The dedicated sales teams 
operate by portfolio but management are targeted on the sales of both Micro Focus and SUSE product portfolios. Operationally 
there are quarterly business reviews with all geographies and monthly reviews with regional presidents, the President of Sales for 
Micro Focus and SUSE participate in their respective weekly management team meetings to review sales performance and GTM 
priorities.   

 
Customer sales cycles are reviewed regularly and a bid review process is in place to monitor and maximize customer revenue 
opportunities. In addition to sales performance reviews, marketing and product development programmes are assessed regularly 
to optimize levels of qualified pipeline and ensure that marketing programmes are supported by appropriate product offerings.   
 
A series of measures are in place to focus the direction of the sales force towards a broad range of customer categories.  These 
measures include detailed bid management, tailored quota targets and robust pre-sales management.   
 
In addition, brand awareness programmes are in place and reviewed on an on-going basis to draw on differentiated and consistent 
PR plans across key geographies. These are supported by targeted industry analyst relations to reach and raise Micro Focus and 
SUSE brand awareness through key marketplace influencers. Brand building is also supported by growing a customer reference 
programme and online programmes such as effective search engine optimization, use of social media and improved corporate 
websites.   
 
In the year the Product to Market process was standardized so that execution was on a more consistent basis. Micro Focus 
continued to run the internal sales certification programme, to improve the level of expertise across the sales force and the Micro 
Focus Sales Academy, the initiative through which it hires graduate sales representatives to enhance the sales capability and 
train up new talent with the potential to progress within the sales organization. 

 
Competition  

 
Risk 

Comprehensive information about the markets in which Micro Focus and SUSE operate is required for the Group to assess 
competitive risks effectively and to perform successfully.  
 
Potential impact 

Failure to understand the competitive landscape adequately and thereby identify where competitive threats exist may damage the 
successful sales of the Group’s products. 
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28. Principal risks and uncertainties continued 

 
Mitigation 

Group product plans contain analysis of competitive threats and subscriptions to industry analyst firms are leveraged to better 
understand market dynamics and competitor strategies. In addition, customer contact programmes are analyzed for competitive 
intelligence. Micro Focus and SUSE continue to monitor and review intelligence on market threats to focus on offering best in 
class service to customers. 

 
Employees  

 
Risk 

The retention and recruitment of highly skilled and motivated employees, at all levels of the Group, is critical to the success and 
future growth of the Group in all countries in which it operates. Employees require clear business objectives, and a well 
communicated vision and values, for the Group to achieve alignment and a common sense of corporate purpose among the 
workforce. 
 
Potential impact 

Failure to retain and develop skill sets, particularly in sales and research and development may hinder the Group’s sales and 
development plans.  Weak organizational alignment and inadequate incentivization may lead to poor performance and instability. 
It could also have an adverse impact on the realization of strategic plans. 
 
Mitigation 

The Group has policies in place to help ensure that it is able to attract and retain employees of a high caliber with the required 
skills. These policies include training, career development and long-term financial incentives.  Leadership training schemes are in 
place to support management development and succession plans. The Group also has in place a performance management and 
appraisal system.  The measures for talent management will continue to be enhanced to ensure a rigorous recruitment and 
retention process which is aligned to business as usual as well as the strategic plans for the Group. Succession plans have been 
developed and are in place for key leadership positions within the Company. 

 
In the year the Group took significant action to develop its management capability both internally, by training and promotions, and 
through external hires. On 1 March 2016 the Group appointed a dedicated Group Human Resources Director, previously the role 
had been combined with business operations.  

 
Change management  

 
Risk 

The Group is engaged in a number of major change projects including acquisitions to grow the business by strengthening the 
portfolio of products and capabilities, and projects to standardize systems and processes. The successful integration of businesses 
will build a solid base for further expansion. These projects expose the Group to transformation risks.  
 
Potential Impact 

Failure to analyze, execute and co-ordinate the various projects successfully may result in the disruption of the ongoing business 
without delivering the benefits of the operational efficiencies and/or commensurate increase in revenues. In addition this may 
affect the ability to execute strategic plans for growth. 
 
Mitigation 

The Group has an established acquisition strategy and focus on efficient execution in the mature infrastructure software products. 
The Group undertook the transformational acquisition of TAG which was followed by the comprehensive Integration Review. In 
March 2016 the Group announced the acquisition of Serena. All projects are run in a dedicated Programme Management Office 
by an appropriately experienced team, utilizing external resources as required. There are detailed and robust governance 
disciplines around each project. The board monitors and reviews progress against all of the projects. On 1 March 2016 the Group 
appointed a dedicated Group Business Operations and Integration Director (previously the role had been combined with Group 
HR) to ensure that execution of the various projects are successfully aligned so as to minimize any disruption to business as 
usual.  

 
IT systems and information  

 
Risk 

The Group’s operations, as most businesses, are dependent on maintaining and protecting the integrity and security of the IT 
systems and management of information. The Group may experience a major breach of system security or cyber-attack. 
 
Potential Impact 

Disruption to the IT systems could adversely affect business and Group operations in a variety of ways, which may result in an 
adverse impact on revenues and reputational damage. 
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Mitigation 

The Group has in place a highly skilled technology team which constantly monitors and reviews the performance and availability 
of the Group IT systems including any risk of cyber-attack. In the year the Group enhanced this team and reviewed the IT Security 
Management System. Policies and processes are in place for the protection of business and personal information. The Group has 
in place well established and tested business continuity plans. 

 
Legal and regulatory compliance  
 

Risk 

The Group operates across a number of jurisdictions. Compliance with national and regional laws and regulations is essential to 
successful business operations. 
 
Potential impact 

Failure to comply could result in civil or criminal sanctions as well as possible fines and reputational damage. 
 
Mitigation 

The Group has in place policies and procedures to mitigate these risks. The Group’s legal and regulatory team, enhanced by 
specialist external advisors as required, monitor and review compliance. There is a Compliance Committee and a Market Abuse 
and Insider Dealing Committee which report into the board. All staff are subject to mandatory compliance training. 

 
Intellectual property  

 
Risk 

Failure to adequately protect the Group’s Intellectual Property and brands. 
 
Potential Impact 

Failure could adversely affect the ability of the Group to compete in the market place and affect the Group’s revenue and 
reputation. 
 
Mitigation 

There are procedures in place across the Group to ensure the appropriate protection and use of the Group’s brands and intellectual 
property, which are monitored by the IP Panel and Legal team.  

 
Treasury  

 
Risk 

The Group operates across a number of jurisdictions and so is exposed to currency fluctuations. The risk of foreign exchange 
fluctuations may be increased as a result of Brexit. The Group targets a Net Debt to Facility EBITDA ratio of 2.5 times and may 
require additional debt funding in order to execute its acquisition strategy.   
 
Potential Impact 

The relative values of currencies can fluctuate and may have a significant impact on business results. Insufficient access to funding 
could limit the Group’s ability to achieve its desired capital structure or to complete acquisitions. 
  
Mitigation 

The Group’s operations are diversified across a number of currencies.  Changes in foreign exchange rates are monitored and 
exposures regularly reviewed and actions taken to reduce exposures where necessary. The Group provides extensive constant 
currency reporting to enable investors to better understand the underlying business performance. The Group has significant 
committed facilities in place, the earliest of which matures in November 2019 and sufficient headroom to meet its operational 
requirements. The Group seeks to maintain strong relationships with its key banking partners and lenders and to proactively 
monitor the loan markets. The Group also has strong engagement with the providers of equity capital, which represents an 
alternative source of capital. 
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Tax 
  

Risk 

The tax treatment of the Group’s cross-border operations is subject to the risk of challenge under tax rules and initiatives targeting 
multinationals’ tax arrangements, including the OECD’s Base Erosion and Profit Shifting project and EU state aid rules. 

 
Potential Impact 

Tax liabilities in various territories in which the Group operates could be significantly higher than expected. 
 
Mitigation 

Tax laws, regulations and interpretations are kept under ongoing review by the Group and its advisors. The Group reviews its 
operations, including the structuring of intra-group arrangements, on a periodic basis to ensure that risks are identified and 
mitigated accordingly. External professional advice is obtained to support positions taken in financial statements and local tax 
returns where there is significant uncertainty or risk of challenge. 

 
Macro-economic environment  

 
Risk 

The Group operates a global business and is exposed to a variety of external economic and political risks which may affect the 
Group’s business operations and execution of the strategy.  
 
Potential Impact 

Adverse economic conditions could affect sales, and other external economic or political matters, such as price controls, could 
affect the business and revenues. 
 
Mitigation 

The spread of jurisdictions allows the Group to be flexible to adapt to changing localized risk to a certain extent. The Group has 
business continuity plans and crisis management procedures in place in the event of political events or natural disasters. 

 
 


